
SERVICES COMMITTEE MEETING 

Monday, November 13, 2017 

6:00 pm 

HAMPDEN TOWN OFFICE 

A G E N D A 

1. MINUTES

a. October 10, 2017   (packet page 2)

2. COMMITTEE APPLICATIONS

3. OLD BUSINESS

a. Presentation of Town of Hampden Community Broadband Technology
Plan, prepared by Axiom Technologies with Eastern Maine Development
Corporation – Kyle Severance, GIS/IT Specialist (packet page 3)

b. Update on Penobscot Valley Cable Consortium (packet page 23)
c. Discussion of Town Center crosswalks and potential to coordinate

construction bidding with Hampden Water District’s pending replacement
of water main between Cottage Street and Western Ave. (packet pg. 29)

4. NEW BUSINESS

a. Presentation of Hampden Public Safety Five-Year Strategic Plan, 2018-
2023 – Sergeant Chris Bailey and Lt. Jason Lundstrom (packet pg. 73)

b. Hunting on Town-owned land – policy review and discussion (pkt pg. 99)

5. PUBLIC AND STAFF COMMENTS

6. COMMITTEE MEMBER COMMENTS

townmanager
Typewritten Text

townmanager
Typewritten Text



TO: Hampden Town Council, Services Committee 

FROM: Angus Jennings, Town Manager 

DATE: November 10, 2017 

RE: Agenda item 1.a, meeting minutes 

As I close out the final items for this packet, the Town server is being replaced. All files needed for the 

packet had been saved locally in preparation for the server replacement, but without access to server 

files or email I am not able to include full detail regarding Items 3.c (town center crosswalks) and 3.b 

(hunting policy) since I have no access to substantive email correspondences from this week (and this 

morning) which inform these items. 

The summary memos in this packet should effectively frame these agenda items. However I’ll present 

additional content at Monday’s meeting based on documentation not currently available to me. 

Without server access I cannot access my draft minutes from October 10 in order to finalize them for 

the packet. Meeting minutes are expected to be provided in hard copy at Monday’s meeting. 

2

townmanager
Typewritten Text
1-a



TO: Hampden Town Council, Services Committee 

FROM: Angus Jennings, Town Manager 

DATE: November 10, 2017 

RE: Agenda item 3.a, Broadband Grant 

Please find attached the work product resulting from the broadband grant we were awarded in fall 

2016. 

Kyle Severance, Hampden’s project manager in administering the grant, will present the report, in 

summary form, on Monday. The consultant from Axiom Technologies will be available to discuss the 

report at a future meeting with the Services Committee; we are working to schedule this for December. 

 

  

3

townmanager
Typewritten Text
3-a



Eastern Maine Development Corporation 

& 

Town of Hampden 

Community Technology Plan 

 

 

Submitted by: 

 

Mark Ouellette & Susan Corbett 

 

 

    

 

 

October 13, 2017 

207.255.0679 

 
mark@connectwithaxiom.com 

susan@connectwithaxiom.com 

4

townmanager
Typewritten Text



 

 

 

Table of Contents  
 

I. Community Technology Plan 

 

II. Digital Inclusion Plan  

 

III. Grant Funding Resources 

 

IV. Addendums: 

 

 Addendum 1: Business & Workforce Needs Survey Results 

 Addendum 2: Community Broadband Survey Results 

 Addendum 3: Broadband Opportunity Council Funding Report 

5



Community Technology Plan 

 

Executive Summary 

Axiom and EMDC worked extensively with the Town of Hampden to assess their assets and set 

concrete goals that could be implemented.  Below is a summary of what we found and recommend.   

Key Findings: 

 Concentrate on service to underserved or unserved areas of town 

 Work on expanded service through the renegotiated franchise agreement with Spectrum 

 Limited Fiber to the Premise Plan 

 Digital Inclusion- Focus on business community 

 

During the course of several Broadband Committee meetings it became clear that some areas of 

town were not connected as well as the residents in those areas would like to have.  And as the 

discussion evolved, it is important to recognize that a community, even as affluent as Hampden 

(family median income estimated in 2015- $74,523 vs Maine- $51,494) have pockets that can only 

attain service of 3Mbps or less.   

In addition, as land becomes scarcer in Bangor, Hampden has become an attractor of businesses 

and is in a building phase to add business parcels to accept new and growing businesses to the 

community.  Taken together we believe our key findings can help continue the ongoing success of 

this community. 

As part of the planning process, Hampden received significant input from citizens through a survey 

that was distributed to every household in the community. Below are highlights that helped inform 

the Broadband Committee and the planning process. 

Hampden received 261 responses to the survey 

 61% served by Spectrum (formally Time Warner Cable) 

 30% served by TDS (Hampden Telephone Company) 

 

Almost 63% are unhappy with their current service 

 Expensive 

 Unreliable 

 Slow speeds 

 

Over 62% are not interested in paying more 

 32% would pay more for higher speeds or better reliability 

 

6



Almost 34% work from home (87 respondents)- almost 25% telecommute (work from home the 

majority of the time (58 respondents) 

Over 50% of businesses say internet is “really important” 

33% said more people would live in Hampden if there were better internet 

 

Survey Conclusions: 

 Council believes in attracting competition, given the current situation with a franchise 

agreement and good coverage with recent upgrades from TDS and Spectrum, unlikely to attract 

an additional provider, without some incentive 

 Without movement from town to get to fiber optic solution, town will be at whim of current 

provider pricing and limitations of technology 

 Because of its location and proximity to Bangor, Hampden is in a position for growth, but needs 

the tools (should include high capacity broadband) to compete and win with business and family 

attraction 

 

Current Provider Coverage 

Spectrum covers the majority of the community, with some notable suggestions.  As the town thinks 

about possibly renewing their franchise agreement with Spectrum, we would suggest that leveraging 

that negotiation to help expand Spectrum’s new upgraded internet service speeds (50/5 Mbps or 

100/10Mbps) to areas currently not covered by their service would be a strong option for the town to 

proceed.   

On the map below, we have identified (yellow dots) all of the E911 addresses that show where the 

homes and businesses in the community.  Spectrum covers the vast majority of the Hampden with 

the exception of those areas highlighted in red. 

 

7



Spectrum Map- areas in RED not covered 

 

By coupling the renewal of the Franchise agreement with expanded coverage areas, it gives 

Hampden officials the opportunity to leverage the agreement to help get better coverage at a 

reduced or no cost.  Below is a chart of the types of elements contained in a franchise agreement 

and what kind of asks the town can make.  Most of these agreements focus on the 5% return to the 

town, but other communities have used this agreement to create a municipal fiber network, or used 

the Franchise Fee as a match for a ConnectME infrastructure grant to expand service.  At any rate, a 

variety of options and opportunities open up, once you bring Spectrum to the table. 

 

Franchise Agreements: 

Understanding what towns can and cannot ask for when negotiating franchise agreements: 

Can do Cannot Do 

Can require specific cable system capacity and 

functionality 

Cannot require a specific transmission 

technology 

Can require support of PEG (Public, Educational 

and Government) access through facilities, 

equipment and channels. 

Cannot specify which channels are or are not 

carried and cannot specify which channels are 

on which tier of service (other than PEG 

service) 

8



Can establish customer service standards, 

including ones related to answering telephone 

calls, responses to complaints, and imposing of 

late fees. 

Cannot regulate rates (other than lowest cost 

tier of service) 

 

Through an enabling ordinance can require a 

specific definition of gross revenue  

Cannot require franchise fees of more than 5% 

of gross revenue, as defined in the franchise 

agreement  

Can regulate the video portion of services 

offered 

Cannot regulate any voice (telephone) services 

Can require construction of an Institutional 

Network (I-Net) linking schools, libraries and 

public buildings for voice, video and data 

communications  

Cannot grant an exclusive franchise 

For the public access channel, can require a 

specific location 

Cannot regulate data services, including 

Internet services 

When a cable company does construction in 

public rights of way, can specify that it must do 

so in a manner that does not disrupt those 

rights of way unreasonably. 

 

 

The State of Maine created a Model Franchise Agreement that you can access at: 

http://www.maine.gov/connectme/about/modelcable.shtml 

 

FairPoint Communications covers only a small portion of Hampden and FairPoint’s DSL service, 

because it comes from Bangor, does not have the types of speed and reliability that other parts of its 

network achieves.  The map below shows its coverage area and the areas that are generally covered 

by those speeds.  This map is an approximation, and individual homes or businesses may not be 

able to achieve speeds shown, however, this is generally what to expect FairPoint’s coverage to look 

like.  This is an area that is also covered by Spectrum, so working with FairPoint to upgrade service in 

this area is unlikely.   

 

9



 

FairPoint Communications Coverage Area 

 Blue= Speeds of up to 10 Mbps 

 Green= Speeds up to 7 Mbps 

 Orange= Speeds up to 3 Mbps 

 Red= No or Minimal Service 

 

TDS is the incumbent telephone provider for the town and offers near ubiquitous phone and internet 

service.  They recently upgraded or are in the process of upgrading their facilities in Hampden and 

will soon offer 50Mbps service in some parts of the network. Below is the map of their coverage area 

and speeds.  Because they have recently upgraded their speeds, it is unlikely that they would make 

another major investment in the near future. 

 

10



 

TDS Coverage Area 

 Blue= Speeds of up to 50/10 Mbps 

 Green= Speeds of up to 25/5 Mbps 

 Orange= Speeds of up to 15/2 Mbps 

 Purple= Speeds of up to 10/1 Mbps 

 

Carrier Coverage Conclusions 

Because Hampden is relatively well covered by three providers, it’s unlikely to attract another 

provider to compete and bring cost down.  We believe these are your options with current providers: 

FairPoint:  In order to upgrade FairPoint service it is likely they would need to place a Remote 

Terminal in Hampden, quotes from FairPoint have generally ranged in the $60,000- $70,000 range, 

but they have not been approached.  This would give their service area speed upgrades of up to 

25Mbps.  Because this is a small area, although densely populated, and because Spectrum offers 

broadband speeds of up to 100Mbps, we would not recommend this investment. 

TDS: TDS is in the midst of a major upgrade in Hamden that will offer speeds up to 50Mbps.  

Because the end of 2017 will most likely complete this upgrade, we would not expect TDS to be 

interested in working with the community to upgrade further, as that would require additional 

investments and technology that we would not think TDS would consider.   

 

11



Spectrum:  Spectrum has also recently upgraded their internet service across all of Maine and now 

offers up to 100Mbps to residential customers.  They typically will consider expanding service at a 

density level of 20-25 homes per mile.  Because there are some gaps in their coverage area, 

perhaps a portion of the Franchise Fee that they currently pay or would pay in a new Franchise 

Agreement could be diverted to help defray the cost of expanded service in those areas on the map 

not covered.  Or Spectrum, as part of their agreement may agree to expand service at their cost to 

one or more of the areas not currently covered with their service. By expanding service, residents in 

those areas would not only have access to higher internet speeds but the benefit to access cable TV 

and phone (Triple Play). 

 

Fiber to the Premise 

Fiber optic cable offers unlimited speeds, unrivaled reliability and a return on investment of at least 

20 years.  However, it is also the most expensive, running between $25,000- $30,000 a mile, plus 

the cost of the electronics to run it and the cost of the actual internet.  However, we believe this is a 

sound investment that Hamden should consider, if only in small upgradable increments. 

Currently, FairPoint, TDS and Spectrum all offer fiber to businesses in the community.  Pricing can 

vary widely depending on the location, but generally speaking is beyond what a small business might 

be willing or able to pay.  Beyond the cost of actually hooking someone up to the fiber infrastructure, 

which can cost from a few hundred dollars into the thousands, the recurring cost of the broadband 

can also be prohibitive because these connections usually require a dedicated link that is only for 

that one business.  In these cases, a typical connection can run in the hundreds of dollars a month.  

Those businesses that require this type of connection, most likely already have it. For some smaller 

group of businesses that would require large amounts of bandwidth, high cost are typically the 

barrier to acquiring such service.  In addition, fiber connectivity is not generally available to 

residential homes leaving home-based businesses with high bandwidth needs frustrated. 

As the needs of an increasingly interconnected world continue to demand better and better internet 

speeds, capacity and reliability, cities and towns are looking at investments that might help keep 

them from falling behind.  The Millennial generation (generally those between the ages of 25-35) is 

now the dominant percentage of the workforce, as Baby Boomers continue to age out, and those 

communities that are thinking about how to accommodate the needs of this generation will remain 

vibrant.  One of the needs of this generation of workers is strong connectivity.  Given the current 

situation in Hamden, we would not recommend a fiber to the home solution that would be 

prohibitively expensive and most likely unachievable.  However, by building strategic fiber that can 

start to help parts of the community with enhanced choices for high-capacity broadband, the town 

can create an attractor for businesses and residents who are increasingly demanding this level of 

connectivity.  By building small sections at a time, you can have the effect of increased visibility for 

the town, while containing and managing cost of such a network. 

 

 

12



 

Fiber to the Premise Proposal 

The following will outline a proposed fiber deployment in Hampden with a focus on the municipality 

building and owning the trunk fiber and offering the fiber as an open access network to ISP’s or other 

vendors willing to utilize the facilities to offer a fiber to the premise (FTTP) service. 

When looking at Hampden for a prospective fiber deployment there are several factors that should 

be taken into consideration in choosing an area for deployment.   

First is density:  Does the area have enough homes and businesses.  This is important as the 

numbers determine whether serving the potential customers off of this fiber would be cost effective 

and/or beneficial to the ISP offering service off of this municipal trunk fiber. 

 

Second is broadband availability:  What other providers and types of technology are present.  The 

number of other providers in the area determine take rate and if there are a significant number of 

providers that can compete with this potential fiber deployment it goes to the first point in providing 

enough customers to make it beneficial for any provider to use this fiber. 

 

Third is location:  Is the fiber deployment close to any municipal centers or major broadband nodes.  

The further away from a city or town center, typically the more it could cost a provider to bring in 

bandwidth to feed the customers served off of the municipal trunk fiber. 

All of these factors determine whether it would be an appealing and beneficial prospect for potential 

broadband providers to extend their services onto this network. 

This proposal focuses on the eastern area of Hampden along Main Rd and Old County Rd.  This 

location  fits the criteria above best as there are only two providers offering broadband in this area 

13



and one of them, FairPoint Communications, only offers up to 10M service.  The other provider, 

Spectrum, does offer significantly faster service, up to 300M packages but both of these providers 

offer their services over copper line technology, which is inferior to a fiber optic delivery method.  The 

density is available, offering over 250 potential homes and businesses with two municipality centers 

at less than 2 miles on either side that could provide backhaul for this network. 

Design and Cost: 

The fiber run along Main Rd consists of approximately 100 utility poles spanning 2 miles from the 

southern and northern intersection of Old County Rd. and Old County Rd. consists of approximately 

70 utility poles spanning 2 miles along its entire length with a potential for a fiber cabinet located at 

either intersection point.  This build would consist of the trunk fiber only with drops to homes and 

businesses the primary responsibility of the contracted broadband provider. 

The approximate cost to deploy this fiber network would be: 

Fiber Materials: $140,000 

Install Labor: $145,000 

Total: $285,000 

The total above includes an average cost to attach to the utility poles, but does not include the 

annual cost to maintain it.  The yearly maintenance fee for the pole licensing, would be 

approximately $1000.  This could be included as a requirement for the broadband provider to 

upkeep. 

Conclusion 

Hampden is in a good position to increase broadband coverage and increase speeds and reliability.  

In fact, all three current providers have done just that.  Given this upgraded service, we would 

concentrate our focus on completing upgrades to those areas identified by leveraging a 

renegotiation of the town’s outdated Franchise Agreement with Spectrum.  Second, we would 

recommend a strategically limited fiber network that could be built upon in future years, while 

starting to build an attractive asset for businesses and residential customers alike.  Last, a focus on 

business needs through Digital Literacy classes customized to the Hampden business community 

would be an investment in the towns citizens and businesses that should drive take rates and 

economic development. 

Action items 

 Initiate Franchise Agreement negotiation with Spectrum 

o Work with Spectrum to build out to underserved areas of the community 

 Identify funding sources to implement Business Digital Literacy campaign  

o Use Axiom recommendations to organize regional partners 

o Survey businesses for programing/classes important to them 

 Town should consider funding the beginning of a municipally owned fiber network- position 

itself for the future 

 

14



Digital Inclusion Plan 

 

Surveys, Interviews and Meeting Results 
Axiom interviewed businesses, community and municipal leaders, as well as residents to discuss 

Computer Skills/Digital Literacy Training and Workforce Development Skills Training. 

 

Important Takeaway: Business Growth and Support  

Hampden, with a population of 7,257 residents, has a median age of 40.8; however, 20% of the 

population is over age 55, per the 2010 American Community Survey.  

https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?src=CF 

 

Currently, there are 133 businesses listed on the Town of Hampden’s Business Directory, 

www.hampdenmaine.gov. With a high population of residents over 55 years of age, it is important to 

focus on business growth, development and sustainability. 

 

Of the businesses that responded to the Hampden Business Survey, 71% of businesses expect 

training will be needed for new and existing staff over the next year; 61% of businesses report that 

they currently offer training programs to their staff; 80% state they are interested in offering 

computer skills classes to their employees; 33% of Hampden businesses do not have a website; and 

44% of businesses would like to offer customer service training.  

 

The Hampden Community Survey reports that residents use the internet for both home and 

business, and 34% report that someone in the household works from home. 

 

Axiom Education & Training Center’s “National Digital Equity Center” (NDEC) can organize training for 

the Hampden business community to leverage available technologies and industry specific 

instruction. NDEC can provide the community with educators to hold classes, as well as collaborate 

with local organizations to provide training. The business and community members can learn 

firsthand how to create and update websites, increase technical proficiency and industry specific 

knowledge.   

 

Collaborating partners to consider are: 

 Hampden Business Association www.hampdenbusiness.com 

 Hampden Business & Commerce Park www.hampdenmaine.gov  

 Maine Small Business Development Centers www.mainesbdc.org 

 Maine Kiwanis Club www.facebook.com/Hampden-Maine-Kiwanis-Club-224905087545841  

 Orono-Hampden-Old Town Adult Ed Partnership  http://orono-hampden.maineadulted.org  

 Welcome ME (Customer Service Training) www.welcomemetraining.com  

 

Business Surveys: 

The Town of Hampden identified key businesses to target during this process. Online surveys and 

interviews were administered. Axiom contacted 26 businesses via email or phone calls, and the town 

15



sent out the business survey link. A total of 17 businesses responded to the survey and/or 

interviews. (See Addendum 1 – Hampden Business & Workforce Needs Survey Results)  

Business Survey Results: 

 72% of businesses state that broadband is extremely important for their business 

 71% of businesses state that they could work and sell more efficiently online 

 7% of businesses are sole entrepreneurs, 43% have 5 employees or less 

 67% of businesses have a website 

 53% of businesses do not use a domain email address 

 40% of businesses do not use VoIP (Voice over Internet Protocol) telephone service 

 40% of businesses use the internet for online sales 

 93% of businesses use the internet for social media 

 60% of businesses state that internet speeds have not kept up with business needs over the 

past few years 

 53% of businesses state improved broadband will be critically important to their business in 

the next 1-2 years 

 67% of businesses do not offer telecommuting  

 43% of businesses that do offer telecommuting report that employees struggle with it  

 36% of businesses see a need for computer skills training  

 

Takeaways: 33% of businesses do not have a website, and 53% do not use a domain email address. 

Developing website classes may be a valuable resource for businesses in Hampden, specifically 

targeting small businesses and sole entrepreneurs. 36% of businesses state that they see a need for 

computer skills training. 

 

Residential Surveys: 

 

As with Business, Community & Municipal leaders, the residential community were invited to 

participate in a Community Broadband Survey by the Town of Hampden’s Broadband Team. It was 

the goal of the survey for residents to become engaged in providing better broadband to Hampden. A 

total of 261 residents completed the survey. (See Addendum 2 - Hampden Community Internet 

Survey Results) 

Community Survey results: 

 98% of homes have internet 

 20% of homes use the internet for home and business 

 63% of homes state they are not happy with their current internet service 

 32% state that they would pay more for faster speeds and better reliability and 62% are not 

interested in paying more for internet service 

 64% state that they would like internet television; 35% for VoIP, 19% for home security and 

11% for home automation 

 64% state they are frustrated with their internet connection 

 51% state they have children or adults that use the internet for homework – 45% are 

children and 46% are adults 

 22% of residents are interested in computer class training 

 32% think more people would live in Hampden if there was better internet 

16



Takeaways: 63% of homes state that they are not happy with their current service and 66% are 

frustrated with their internet connection. 51% state that they have children and adult learners that 

use the internet for homework. Hampden should be mindful of homes with school-age children to 

and further evaluate whether homes with children do not subscribe to the internet because of cost. 

Hampden ~could~ consider a Technology Fund to assist homes that cannot afford broadband, 

specifically in homes with school-age children to address the Homework Gap, as well as letting their 

residents know of the low-cost broadband options offered by providers.  

Out of the 261 Community responses, 22% of Hampden’s residents expressed a need for training on 

using the Internet. This is a significant number as it clearly indicates that residents (many own home-

based businesses) would like to increase their technical proficiency. Hampden and EMDC could seek 

funding to offer a Digital Literacy program to its residents and businesses.  

 

The Digital Inclusion Program for the Town of Hampden includes four components: 

 

1. Affordable Internet – Cost continues to be a major barrier to broadband adoption. The Town of 

Hampden should consider addressing “ability to pay”. The following providers have been contacted 

regarding low-cost broadband options: 

 Consolidated Communications (FairPoint Communications):  

 Eligible low-income FairPoint residential customers can quality for a discount on 

qualified internet service at their primary residence under the Lifeline Program. The 

discount consists of federal monthly support of $9.25.  

 

 Eligible FairPoint residential customers residing on tribal lands may qualify for an 

additional federal discount of up to $25 per month and installation assistance. 

 

 Further information, including applications forms, can be found 

at:  www.fairpoint.com/home/residential/phone/lifeline.html 

 

 TDS Telecom: 

 Eligible low-income TDS residential customers can quality for a discount on qualified 

internet service at their primary residence under the Lifeline Program. The discount 

consists of federal monthly support of $9.25.  

 
 Further information, including applications forms, can be found at:    

https://tdstelecom.com/content/dam/tdstelecom/pdfs/lifeline/LifelineApplication.p

df 

 

 Town of Hampden Technology Fund: A fund ~could~ be established to offer a discount to 

low-income families to address broadband adoption and take-rate 

 A fund could be established to offer a discount to low-income families to address 

broadband adoption and take-rate 

 

 The Town of Hampden Broadband Committee may opt to explore the feasibility of 

establishing a fund 

 

 

17



2. Affordable Equipment Assessment – Low-cost or free computers are often just as important as 

having access to low-cost or free Internet options, particularly for people in low-income communities. 

  

 PC’s for Maine www.pcsformaine.org offers refurbished, used computers that are donated by 

businesses in Maine and are available to low-income families. 

 

 PC’s for Maine will consider installing a kiosk at a local business to sell low-cost computers 

locally.  Axiom will work with a local business and facilitate a conversation with PC’s for 

Maine, should the Town of Hampden decide to move forward.    

 

 Goodwill’s “Good Tech” program offers refurbished, used computers to low-income residents. 

https://goodwillnne.org/stores/goodtech 

 

 Lending Library of Devices, laptops, desktops, iPads, etc., could be established for residents 

to borrow on an “as-needed” basis. The devices might be donated or the Town of Hampden 

could seek grant funds to purchase equipment. The Edythe L. Dyer Community Library might 

be considered as the lending institution. 

 

 

3. Digital Literacy Training – Computer Skills Training plays a critical role in technology and workforce 

development training. The following digital literacy options are available for the Town of Hampden: 

 Axiom Education & Training Center’s “National Digital Equity Center” offers Digital Literacy 

classes for residents and businesses. We recommend offering the residents of Hampden 

digital literacy courses over a 6 to 12-month period, one class per week, ensuring that the 

program has predictability over some period of time for full residential and business 

participation. 

 

 Maine Department of Labor’s CareerCenter, office is located at 45 Oak St., Bangor. The 

CareerCenter collaborates with the Axiom Education & Training Center, and is committed to 

assist with workforce development skills efforts.  

 

 Orono-Hampden-Old Town Adult Ed Partnership  http://orono-hampden.maineadulted.org 

offers digital literacy classes at their location. Their headquarters are located at 14 

Goodridge Dr., Orono. The digital literacy classes that are offered are included in their Fall 

catalog, available online at:  
https://orono-hampden.coursestorm.com/category/technology 

 
 

Recommended Class Locations: 

 Edythe L. Dyer Community Library http://www.edl.lib.me.us 

 Hampden Town Office http://www.hampdenmaine.gov  

 Business Locations  
 

        

      Recommended Classes include: 

 Introduction to Computer 

 Windows 7, 8, 10 

 Internet Safety 

18



19



4. Public Computer Access – Increasing public access computing allows residents to access 

technology in places in which they feel comfortable and supported is essential. If a business or 

resident cannot afford equipment or an Internet subscription, and if broadband is not available at 

their location, Public Computer Access is essential. 

 

 Edythe L. Dyer Community Library has 1 desktop computer and 3 laptop computers available 

for public use. Wireless internet is also available for residents and businesses with their own 

equipment to use during library hours. 

 

 Community HotSpots are open access networks that allow citizens in a downtown or other 

public spaces access to the Internet. This is a simple, straightforward way to help the town 

get more connected. It is an affordable, convenient solution to help visitors and residents 

easy, seamless connectivity.  

 

In additional to the Edythe L. Dyer Community Library, WiFi is available at a variety of 

business locations in the Hampden region. Community HotSpot(s) for the downtown are 

recommended for the Town of Hampden. 

  

20



Grant Funding Resources 

State Grant Funding Resources 

The ConnectME Authority offers two types of grants - Infrastructure and Community Broadband 

Planning Grants.  For the purposes of this report, the planning grant is not a consideration.  We 

would recommend looking toward Infrastructure grants, details can be found here: 

http://maine.gov/connectme/grants/  

Axiom has extensive knowledge of these grants, and has received over $1Million in funding. 

 Grant proposals must meet the state standard of 10/10Mbps 

 Grant limits are suggested, but typically $100,000, which must be matched 1 to 1 with a 

combination of cash and in-kind services 

 Area targeted must be unserved or severely underserved (service that is less than 1.5Mbps 

download 

 

Typically, ConnectME grants open for applications in the March- April timeframe, but is not clear 

when grants may be available in 2018. 

The Maine Community Foundation has regional grants that can support initiatives up to $10,000. 

http://www.mainecf.org/GrantsNonprofits/AvailableGrantsDeadlines/CommunityBuildingGrantProgr

am.aspx 

 Grants available up to $10,000 

 Local decision makers by county 

 Various criteria that needs review  

 Deadline February 15th of each new year 

 

Northern Boarder Regional Commission Grants, http://www.nbrc.gov.  The Commission accepts 

grant applications from across the northern border regions of Maine, New Hampshire, Vermont and 

New York. 

 Requires at least a 1 to 1 cash match 

 Must be tied to quantifiable job creation 

 Very competitive 

 

Contact: Andrea Smith at (207) 624-9813 or andrea.smith@maine.gov for information on 

deadlines and program parameters. 

 

Federal Grant Funding Resources 

U.S. Department of Commerce- Economic Development Administration (EDA) provides funding for 

economic development projects across the state of Maine.  Maine projects are reviewed and 

administered by EDA’s local representative, Alan Brigham at (215) 316-2965 or abrigham@eda.gov. 

Programs and eligibility can be found at www.eda.gov  

21



 Various funding programs 

 Guidelines encourage regions to incorporate broadband investments in their regional 

strategies (CEDS) 

 Funding requires match 

 

U.S. Department of Commerce- Broadband USA is helping communities nationwide ensure they 

have the broadband infrastructure, digitally literate workforce and engaged citizens to thrive in 

the Digital Economy.  Details can be found here: https://www2.ntia.doc.gov/ 

 Provides direct (one-to-one) assistance to communities 

 Resource rich website- no direct grants 

 Building a self-assessment tool for communities 

 

U.S Department of Agriculture- Rural Development has a number of grant programs worth 

investigating.  Local office in Bangor, contact Tommy Higgins, Acting State Director, (207) 990-

9160.  More information on programs in Maine can be found here: www.rd.usda/me 

 Rural Broadband Access Loans and Loan Guarantees Program 

o 2017 Program has not been announced 

 Several other competitive grant programs to explore eligibility and criteria 

 

U.S. Department of Treasury- New Markets Tax Credits (NMTC) has recently clarified the eligibility 

of broadband infrastructure and related activities are eligible for NMTC provided they meet 

certain criteria located here:  

https://www.cdfifund.gov/Documents/2015%20NMTC%20Application%20QA%20FINAL.pdf 

 Axiom is exploring the potential of NMTC funding 

 Eligible census tracks are being reviewed 

 It’s unclear without investigation if Hampden or parts of Hampden may be eligible 

 
Broadband Opportunity Council Funding Report- U.S. Dept. of Commerce and USDA released a report 

in January 2017 listing all federal broadband funding resources - See Addendum 3. 
 

22



                             
       

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

                    
            

 
 

 
 
 
On Wed, Oct 25, 2017 at 8:29 AM, Mark Leonard <mleonard@veazie.net> wrote: 

Group- Just wanted to provide another update as to where we are in the process.
We have made headway with the contract but a few months ago we came to an
impasse where we thought it would be more beneficial to meet in person in an
attempt to hammer out the final portions of the contract. Much like in the past our
request have gone unanswered. The attached letter was sent on Monday by
USPS and then emailed today in hopes that it would elicit a response so we
could set up a meeting. As of this writing I have not heard from them but I remain
hopeful.
 
Again, just wanted you aware we are still working on this and trying to move the
contract forward. If anyone has questions, concerns or comments reference this
please dont hesitate to bring them to my attention and I will do my best to
address them.
 
Mark
 
Mark Leonard  Town Manager
Town of Veazie
1084 Main Street
Veazie, Maine 04401
207-947-2781
mleonard@veazie.net
 
 
Confidentiality notice: the email message contained herein is intended only for
the individual to whom or entity to which it is addressed as shown at the
beginning of the message and may contain information that is privileged,

23

townmanager
Typewritten Text
3-b



24



 

                 
                    

                      
  

                      
                

          

                 
                

                  
   

            
 

               

                       
        

         

 

On Wed, Oct 25, 2017 at 8:49 AM, Angus Jennings <townmanager@hampdenmaine.gov> wrote: 
Mark,
   Thanks for the update.  
   As you may have seen the following email came through the listserv recently:
 

---------- Forwarded message ----------
From: Christopher Hall  <MTCMA-Members@mmaaffl.org>
Date: Thu, Oct 19, 2017 at 11:16 AM
Subject: RE: Marijuana Hearing Request
To: MTCMA-Members@mmaaffl.org
 

Good morning,

 

Bristol received a le�er this week from our cable franchisee, Charter Communica�ons  (a/k/a Spectrum or TimeWarner)
no�fying us that the public access channel we use for broadcast of town mee�ngs and boards, Lincoln County Television /
Channel 7, is to be moved next month to the new loca�on of channel 1301. The Government Access Channel is now to be
1303.

 

Not exactly loca�ons we would expect viewers to surf through the channels to find! The local sta�on has not been consulted
or given any op�on, although they have built up a brand as Channel 7 over the years.

 

Bristol’s Selectmen voted last night to send a le�er of protest to Charter – not with much expecta�on that a single town
would be heard or change their decision. But here are my ques�ons to anyone with informa�on:

-          Is this a state-wide move by Charter?

-          Are any other towns proposing to protest?

25



-          Are towns that are renego�a�ng, or that will soon be renewing their cable franchises, willing to put placement of the
Public Access channel on their list of demands?

 

Thanks in advance for any informa�on –

 

Chris Hall

Town Administrator

Bristol

 

BristolTownAdm@tidewater.net

 

   Hampden has not received similar notice (yet) but shares the concerns expressed in the email.  If/when the
Consortium is back "at the table" we'd like this topic included for discussion.
 
Thanks again,
 Angus
 
 

            
              

               
              

               
           

              
                 

 
               

          
               

 
 

 
    
  
  

  

 
 

          
              

          

26



27



Greetings friends,

Several towns in Lincoln County and elsewhere in Maine have recently received notices from Time Warner/Charter to the
effect that that the PEG channels in their towns will soon be moved from their traditional locations on the channel guide
up to the 1300 block of channels. This is being done in conjunction with the elimination of their analog signals as a cost
saving measure. 

The result is that you will need to rent a cable box to view your local community television channels no matter what kind
of television you have. Your Public, Educational and Governmental channels will no longer be easily accessible for
viewing municipal and school board meetings and other community events. 

I have begun a dialog with Representative Beth O'Connor who serves on the Energy, Utility and Technology Committee,
Senator Bill Diamond, Kate Dufour at the Maine Municipal Association and Sally Hebert, President of the Community
Television Association of Maine to elicit suggestions for countering this terrible decision by Charter, who has done this in
other states as well.

http://acommunitytv.org/2014/10/charter-slams-northbridge-massachusetts-peg-channels-in-violation-of-
franchise-agreement/

http://acommunitytv.org/2014/07/charter-slams-peg-channels-and-gouges-municipalities/

I have also consulted with my legal resource in Washington, DC, Tillman Lay
http://www.spiegelmcd.com/professionals/Tillman_Lay 
and he has provided me with some suggestions that I will be discussing with MMA tomorrow.

One Town, Bristol, is writing a letter of protest to Charter and more will follow. They may be needed as part of the process
to reverse the decision, I will keep you posted.

Thank you in advance for your interest and assistance. 

Tony Vigue

On Wed, Oct 25, 2017 at 8:49 AM, Angus Jennings <townmanager@hampdenmaine.gov> wrote: 
Mark,
   Thanks for the update.  
   As you may have seen the following email came through the listserv recently:
 

---------- Forwarded message ----------
From: Christopher Hall  <MTCMA-Members@mmaaffl.org>
Date: Thu, Oct 19, 2017 at 11:16 AM
Subject: RE: Marijuana Hearing Request
To: MTCMA-Members@mmaaffl.org
 

Good morning,

 

Bristol received a le�er this week from our cable franchisee, Charter Communica�ons  (a/k/a Spectrum or TimeWarner)
no�fying us that the public access channel we use for broadcast of town mee�ngs and boards, Lincoln County Television /
Channel 7, is to be moved next month to the new loca�on of channel 1301. The Government Access Channel is now to be
1303.

 

Not exactly loca�ons we would expect viewers to surf through the channels to find! The local sta�on has not been consulted
or given any op�on, although they have built up a brand as Channel 7 over the years.

 

Bristol’s Selectmen voted last night to send a le�er of protest to Charter – not with much expecta�on that a single town
would be heard or change their decision. But here are my ques�ons to anyone with informa�on:

-          Is this a state-wide move by Charter?

-          Are any other towns proposing to protest?

28



TO: Hampden Town Council, Services Committee 

FROM: Angus Jennings, Town Manager 

DATE: November 10, 2017 

RE: Agenda item 3.c, Town Center Crosswalks 

At the time of the Finance Committee’s vote on Monday to not authorize the recommended funding for 

engineering services for the town center crosswalks, I knew that it would be a significant challenge to 

proceed with the project in a timely and efficient way without engineering support. However I thought it 

may be possible. 

I have since conducted additional research, and am now fully convinced that engineering services will be 

necessary in order to proceed with this project in a timely, efficient, cost-effective, and professionally 

competent manner. 

One critical factor in my determination is the opportunity to coordinate the bidding of construction 

work for the crosswalks and flashing ped beacons with the Hampden Water District’s bidding of the 

replacement of the 1A water main from Cottage Street to Western Ave. Superintendent Holyoke intends 

to bid out the work in December and has offered to include the crosswalks as an add/alternate to the 

bid. We do not have the technical capabilities to prepare bid documents on this timeline. I expect that, 

by including the work within the HWD scope, the savings on contractor mobilization, MDOT permitting 

and interface, construction inspections/oversight, etc., will more than offset any near-term costs for 

engineering. 

For reference, I have enclosed the bid documents from the crosswalk and beacons in Brewer. This 

illustrates the level of work that will be needed in order to professionally administer this project. I have 

also corresponded with the Brewer engineering department, MDOT personnel, and others regarding 

specific considerations relative to the proposed two crosswalk locations. Although the MDOT crosswalk 

specs would of course be included in any bid documents, these specs alone do not answer (or ask) many 

questions that will need to be answered in order for prospective contractors to price the work on an 

“apples to apples” basis, in order for MDOT to understand and approve what is proposed, in order to 

take into account how the crosswalks will interface with existing sidewalk infrastructure, proposed 

changed curb cuts (related to anticipated changes to Hannibal Hamlin Place approved recently by the 

Planning Board), and potential future infrastructure. 

If the Services Committee sees fit to recommend reserve funding for this purpose, I would certainly 

welcome this. However, my focus is on getting this project done, and in the absence of any further 

action by the Council I intend to contract for the engineering services needed to complete this project in 

the most efficient, cost efficient, professional, and timely manner. I will be carefully reviewing what 

operating budget line item will support this expense, understanding that this will affect budgeted 

services to some extent. Based on the public safety and, in my opinion, moral imperative to get this 

project done timely, I will make this decision in a way that I believe best serves the Town of Hampden.  

29

townmanager
Typewritten Text
3-c



 
 

3 
 
 

NOTICE TO CONTRACTORS 
 
 
Bids are requested for the construction of a new crosswalk and installation of foundations 
for flashing beacons with associated improvements in the City of Brewer. 
 
The project includes the installation of a new  field basin and 6” storm drain, new granite 
curbing, installation of pole foundations, wh ich will be provided by the City, paving, and  
striping.   
 
Interested bidders may obtain bid information and specifications fo r the project by  
contacting Brewer Engineering Department at (207) 989-7800.  For consideration, the 
attached bid form must be sealed in an enve lope, distinctly marked, “2016 Proposed 
Crosswalk at South Main” and must be received at the Office of J eremy Caron, Brewer 
Engineering Dept., 221 Green Point Road, Brewer, ME by 2:00 PM, Wednesday August 
31, 2016.  Any bids received after the date and time specified will not be allowed.  
 
The work shall not commence until such time as the Contractor re ceives a notice to 
proceed from the City Engineer  or his desi gnee.  The work is expected to begin on or 
about September 1, 2016 and be completed by November 15, 2016.  The City of Brewer, 
Maine holds the exclusive right to reject or accept all or part of any or all bids received. 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30



31



32



 
 

1 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF BREWER 
 

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 

FOR 
 

Maple and Hardy Streets 
Proposed Crosswalk on South Main 

 
BREWER, MAINE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

August 5, 2016 

33



 
 

2 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF BREWER, MAINE 
 

Proposed Crosswalk on South Main 

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 SECTION TITLE                                              PAGES 
 
 Notice to Contractors         3 
 
 Information for Bidders               4 – 6 
 
 Bid                  7 – 10   
 
 Agreement       11-13 
      
 General Conditions                         14 – 34 
 
 Notice of Award      35 
 
 Notice to Proceed      36      
 
 Maintenance of Traffic Specification   37 - 40  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34



 
 

3 
 
 

NOTICE TO CONTRACTORS 
 
 
Bids are requested for the construction of a new crosswalk and installation of foundations 
for flashing beacons with associated improvements in the City of Brewer. 
 
The project includes the installation of a new  field basin and 6” storm drain, new granite 
curbing, installation of pole foundations, wh ich will be provided by the City, paving, and  
striping.   
 
Interested bidders may obtain bid information and specifications fo r the project by  
contacting Brewer Engineering Department at (207) 989-7800.  For consideration, the 
attached bid form must be sealed in an enve lope, distinctly marked, “2016 Proposed 
Crosswalk at South Main” and must be received at the Office of J eremy Caron, Brewer 
Engineering Dept., 221 Green Point Road, Brewer, ME by 2:00 PM, Wednesday August 
31, 2016.  Any bids received after the date and time specified will not be allowed.  
 
The work shall not commence until such time as the Contractor re ceives a notice to 
proceed from the City Engineer  or his desi gnee.  The work is expected to begin on or 
about September 1, 2016 and be completed by November 15, 2016.  The City of Brewer, 
Maine holds the exclusive right to reject or accept all or part of any or all bids received. 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35



 
 

4 
 
 

INFORMATION FOR BIDDERS 
 

Crosswalk Construction 
 
The work contemplated under the terms of this contract consists of the construction of a 
new crosswalk near Maple and Hardy Streets on South Main Street.  Construction will 
shift a portion of the existing shoulder to a protected curbed area where a foundation base 
will be ins talled for future solar powered r apid flashers to be installed by others. 
Foundation bases will be provi ded by the City, the foundat ion bases will need to be 
transported by the Contractor to  the site from the City landf ill on Elm Street.  Pavement 
will be removed and areas brought to grade with Type A gravel, granite curb with terminal 
ends installed, and paved as shown on plans.  Other minor si te work items include 
striping, and sign installation. Exact location s for the foundations  and sign posts will be 
field determined at the time of construction.  
 

Field Basin and 6” Storm Drain 
 
A Type-F field basin will be furnished and installed by the contractor.  A 50 foot run of 6” 
storm drain will leave the new field basin and a new invert will be cored into the existin g 
catch basin on Maple Street for the 6” run to outlet to.  The Contractor will be responsible 
for providing a water-tight connection for the new invert.   
  

Traffic Control 
 
The Contractor shall be responsible for providing all nec essary flagmen, signs, 
barricades, and other safety devices necessary to control and direct traffic during 
construction operations.  Two way traffic shall be maintained throughout the project.   

 
Timing 

 
All work under this Contract is to be completed by November 15, 2016.   
 

 Withdrawal of Bids 
 
The Owner may consider informal, any bid no t in accordance with the provisions hereof 
and may waive any informalities in, or reject any or all bids.  Any Bidder may withdraw his 
bid prior to opening of the bids .  Any bid received after the time and date specified shall 
not be considered.   No Bid der may withdraw his bid within thirty days after the actual 
opening. 

 
Bonding & Liquidated Damages 

 
No bid, pa yment, or performance bonds will be required as part of this project.  No 
liquidated damages will be assessed for this project.   

36



 
 

5 
 
 

Qualified Bidder 
 
The Owner may make such investigations that he may deem necessary to determine the 
ability of the Bidder to perform the work and the bidder shall furnish to the owner all such 
information and data for this investigation as the Owner may request. Conditional bids will 
not be accepted. The Owner reserves the right to reject any bid after evidence submitted, 
or investigation of such Bidder  fails to satisfy the Ow ner, in its sole op inion, that such 
Bidder is properly qualified to carry out the obligations of the Contract.   
 

Bidders Obligation 
 
At the time of the opening of  the bids it will be pres umed that each bidde r will have  
inspected the site an d will have  read and be thoroughly familiar with the plans an d 
Contract Documents, including all addenda.  Failure or omission of any Bidder to receive 
and examine any form, instrument, or document will not in any way relieve the successful 
Bidder from any obligations in respect to his bid. 
 

Definitions 
 
The  terms  used in this Contract shall have  the  following meaning:   The  Owner shall 
mean the City of Brewer,  Maine;  the Engineer  shall  mean the City Engineer or his  duly  
authorized representative; the Contractor shall mean the indi vidual, firm  or corporation  
to whom the Contract has been awarded or any of  his subcontractors working for or 
under his direction. 

 
Responsibility of Bidder 

 
Each  Bidder  must inform himself fully  of  the  conditions relating to the proposed 
construction.  Failure to do so will not reliev e the successful Bidd er of his oblig ation to 
furnish all materials necessary to carry out the provisions of the Contract Document and 
to complete the contemplated work   for   the consideration set forth in his bid. 
 

 Work Under City Engineer 
 
All work in connection with this project shal l be under the adminis trative overview of the 
City Engineer as detailed in Section 27 of the General Cond itions and all decisions by 
him pertaining to the new construction sha ll be final and binding. It shall be the 
responsibility of the Contractor   to establish and maintain such layout as may be required 
to properly complete the work.   
 
No   interpretation   of   the   meaning   of    the   plans, specific ations or other Contract 
Documents will be made  to  any Bidder orally.  Every request for such interpretation must 
be  in writing  addres sed  to the City Engi neer, 221 Green Point Road, Brewer, Maine   
04412 and to be given considerat ion must be  received by August 26, 2016.   Any  and 

37



 
 

6 
 
 

all such interpretations  and  any   supplemental instructions  will  be by written addenda 
to  the specifications, which,  if  issued,  will be mailed or emailed to all prospective bidders 
(at the  respective addresses  of the prospective bidders) not later than August 29, 2016. 
Failure  of any  Bidder  to receive any adde nda or interpretation  shall  not reliev e  the 
Bidder of his obligation under the  bid  submitted.  All  addenda  so  issued  shall become 
a  part  of  the  Contract Documents. 
 
The  Bidder  is advised that (1) the  construc tion  terms  and conditions  set forth in the 
Contract Documents will  be  rigidly enforced,  and (2) it is the intentions of the Owner to  
maintain full time inspection during the per iod of construction and only first quality 
materials and workmanship will be accepted. 
 
The City of Brewer is a municipal corporation duly organized under the laws of the State 
of Maine and therefore is not required to file proof of exemption of the Maine Sales Tax.    

 
Utility Location 

 
Contractor is to have the proper  utility location service provi de location of the existin g 
utilities in the area of the project.  The Contractor is advised that the City of Brewer is not 
a participating member in Dig -safe and will need to be contact ed separately for sewer, 
water, and storm drain locations in the area of the project.   
 

Basis of Award 
 
The bid will be awarded to the l owest bidder deemed qualified and responsive by the 
Brewer City Manager or City Council.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

38



 
 

7 
 
 

BID 

Proposal of                                                                        (hereinafter called "BIDDER"), 

organized and existing under the laws of t he State of                         doing business a s                     

( "a corporation", or "a partnership", or “an  individual”, circle as applicable). 

To the City of Brewer, (hereinafter calle d "OWNER"). In  complianc e  with your 

advertisement for Bids,  BIDDER  hereby proposed  to perform all work for the “Proposed 

Crosswalk on South Main” in Br ewer, Maine, in strict a ccordance with the Contract  

Documents, within  the  ti me  set forth therein, for the lump sum fee of  

$____________________________________________________________________. 

By submission of this Bid, each BIDDER certifies, and in the ca se of  a  joint  bid  each 

party thereto certifies  as  to  his  own or ganization,  that this Bid has been arrived  at  

independently, without  consultation,  communicati on,  or agreement  as  to  any matter  

relating  to this Bid with any other Bidder or  with  a competitor. 

BIDDER  hereby agrees to commence work under this contract on  or before  a  date to 

be specified in the Notice to Proceed.   

BIDDER acknowledges receipt of the following addendum: 

             

             

             

              

              

              

39



 
 

8 
 
 

 
We have examined the  specific ations and being familiar with  all  of  the conditions  
surrounding the construction of  the  propos ed project including the availability of 
materials and labor; hereby propose  to furnish all labor, materials, and supplies,  and  to 
construct the project in accordance with the contract  documents, within the time set forth 
therein, and at the prices stated. 
 
The undersigned also agrees as follows: 
 
FIRST:  To do any extra work, not covered by  the above schedule of prices, which may 
be ordered by the Engineer, and to accept as full compensation therefore such prices as 
may be agreed upon in writing by the Engineer and the Contractor. 
 
SECOND:   To begin the work on or before September 1, 2016 unless the City of Brewer 
shall authorize or direct a further delay, an d will prog ress therewith to its completion  
before November 15, 2016. 
 
Should additional work be added to this cont ract the contract time will b e extended 
proportionately. 
 
The  undersigned,  as Bidder, declares that the only  persons  or parties  interested in this 
Proposal are those named her ein,  and that  this  Proposal  is made without collusion  
with  any  other person, firm or corporation. 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted this                     day of                                 ,20       
 
IF AN INDIVIDUAL, SIGN HERE: 
 
     Signature of BIDDER__________________________________________________ 
 
     Address ____________________________________________________________                       
 
 
IF A FIRM OR PARTNERSHIP, SIGN HERE:    
 
     Signature of BIDDER _________________________________________________                        
 
     Name of Firm or Partnership____________________________________________                       
 
    Business Address_____________________________________________________                       
                                                                                                                                                    

40



 
 

9 
 
 

IF A CORPORATION, SIGN HERE: 

     Name of BIDDER                                                                                                           

     Authorized Signature/Title                                                                                              

                                                                                     Corporate seal must be 

                                                                              affixed in this  

     Business Address                                                    space. 

     ___________________________________ 

                                                                           

                                                                                                        

     Incorporated under the Laws of the State of ________________________                                       

     Officers of                                     President                                                                  

         The                                           Secretary                                                                  

                                   ss: 

Before me, personally appeared                                           and acknowledged that the 

signature to the preceding bid is  his signature in his official capacity. 

 

____________________________       _____________________________  

                    Date                                                                    Notary Public 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

41



 
 

10 
 
 

ALL CORPORATIONS MUST COMPLETE THIS FORM 

AND SUBMIT WITH THE BID PROPOSAL 
 
(Insert copy of that part of the records of the corporation wherein authority was given to 
the officer of the corporation to sign this bid on behalf of the corporation.) 
 
                                                                                                                                            
Date: 
 
The above is a true copy of the records of the _______________________________                          
 
                                       Corporation, which records are in my legal custody. 
 
                               
                                                                                                                                           
                                                                      Official having Custody of Records 
 
                                          ss: 
 
Before me appeared                                                                                               of the  
 
                                                                              Corporation, and made  oath that the  
 
above statement is true. 
 
                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                        Notary Public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

42



 
 

11 
 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT, made this                  day of                         , 2016 by and  

between the City of Brewer, hereinafter called “OWNER” and            (an 

individual or a partnership or a corporation) hereina fter called “CONTRACTOR”.  

WITNESSETH: That for and in consideration of the payments and agreements hereinafter 

mentioned: 

1. The Contractor will commence and complete Proposed Crosswalk on South 

Main as directed by the City Engineer. 

2. The Contractor will furnish all of the material, supplies,  tools, equipment,                      

labor and other servi ces necessary for the construction and completion                      

of the project described herei n, except for items spec ifically identified as  

being furnished by the Owner.  

3. The Contractor will commence the work required by the CONTRACT  

DOCUMENTS no later than September 1, 2016 and will complete the same 

before November 15, 2016 unless the period for completion is extended 

otherwise by the CONTRACT. 

4. The quoted lump sum fee for the completion of all work shown on the project 

plans is   ($                                        ).  

5. The term “CONTRACT DOCUMENTS” means and includes the following: 

 Notice to Contractors 

 Information for BIDDERS 

 Bid  

43



 
 

12 
 
 

 Agreement 

 General Conditions 

 Notice of Award 

 Notice to Proceed 

 Maintenance of Traffic Specifications 

  “Maple and Hardy Street Proposed Crosswalk on South 

Main” Plan Set (Sheets 1-2) 

 ADDENDA:     

No.                                , dated              , 20__       

No.                                , dated                             , 20__       

No.                                , dated                             , 20__      

6. The OWNER will pay to the CONTRACTOR in the manner at such times as 

set forth i n the General Conditions  such amounts as required by the 

Contract Documents. 

7. This Agreement shall be binding upon all parties hereto and their   

  respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns. 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have executed or caused to be executed by 

their duly authorized officials, this agreement in triplicate each of which shall be deemed 

an original on the date first above written. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

44



 
 

13 
 
 

OWNER: 
CITY OF BREWER 
 
By _________________________                                                        
                                                                                                       (Seal) 
Name        Stephen Bost                                                     
                 (Print or Type)                                          ATTEST: 
  
                                                                                      By________________________                        
CONTRACTOR: 
 

                                                            
  
By__________________________                                                       
 
Name _______________________                                                 
                    (Print or Type) 
 
Address:_____________________                                             
                                                                                                      (Seal) 
                                                          
                                                                                     ATTEST: 
                                                           
                                                                                     By_________________________                      
 
                                                                                     Name ______________________                       
 
                                                                                     Title________________________                      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

45



 
 

14 
 
 

                                       GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
 1.  Definitions                                         16.  Correction of Work       
 2.  Additional Instructions and                  17.  Subsurface Conditions 
      Detail Drawings                                  18.  Suspension of Work, Ter- 
 3.  Schedules, Reports and Records                  mination, and Delay 
 4.  Drawings and Specifications               19.  Payments to Contractor 
 5.  Shop Drawings                                  20.  Acceptance of Final Pay- 
 6.  Materials, Services and                              ment as Release 
      Facilities                                            21.  Insurance 
 7.  Inspection and Testing                        22.  Contract Security 
 8.  Substitutions                                      23.  Assignments 
 9.  Patents                                              24.  Indemnification 
10. Surveys, Permits, Regulations              25.  Separate Contracts 
11. Protection of Work, Property,               26.  Subcontracting 
      Persons                                             27.  Engineer's Authority 
12. Supervision by Contractor                   28.  Land and Rights-of-Way 
13. Changes in Work                                29.  Guaranty 
14. Changes in Contract Prices                  30.  Arbitration 
15. Time for Completion and                     31.  Taxes 
      liquidated Damages 
 
DEFINITIONS 
1.1   Wherever  used in th e CONTRACT  DOCUMENTS,   the  following   terms  shall 
have the meanings indicated a nd shall be  applicable to both the singular and plural 
thereof: 
 
1.2  ADDENDA - Written or graphic instrum ents issued prior to the execution of the 
Agreement which modify or interpre t the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS, DRAWINGS and 
SPECIFICATIONS, by additions,  deletions, clarifications, or corrections. 
 
1.3   BID - The offer or proposal of the BIDDER submitted on  the prescribed  form  setting  
forth the prices for the  WORK  to  be performed. 
 
1.4   BIDDER - Any person, firm, or corporation submitting a  BID for the WORK. 
 
1.5   BONDS  -  Bid,  Performance, and  Pa yment  Bonds  and  other instruments  of  
surety,  furnished by   the  CONTRACT OR  and  the CONTRACTOR' S surety in 
accordance with the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 
 
1.6  CHANGE ORDER - A writt en order to the CONTRACTOR authorizing an addition , 
deletion, or revision in the WORK within the general  scope of the C ONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS, or authorizing an adjustment  in the CONTRACT PRICE or CONTRACT 
TIME. 

46



 
 

15 
 
 

 
1.7   CONTRACT DOCUMENT S - The contract, including  Advertisement for  BIDS, 
Information for BIDDERS, BID,  BID  BOND,  Agreement, Payment  BOND, Performance  
BOND, NOTICE  OF  AW ARD,  NOTICE  TO PROCEE D, CHANGE ORDER, 
DRAWINGS, SPECIFICATIONS, and ADDENDA. 
 
1.8  CONTRACT PRI CE - The total monies  payable to the  CONTRACTO R under the 
terms and conditions of the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 
 
1.9   CONTRACT TIME - T he number of calend ar days st ated  in  the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS for the completion of the WORK. 
 
1.10  CONTRACTOR - The person, firm, or  corporation with w hom the OWNER has 
executed the Agreement. 
 
1.11   DRAWINGS - The parts of the C ONTRACT DOCUMENTS which  show the 
characteristics  and scope of the WORK to be  performed  and which have been prepared 
or approved by the ENGINEER. 
 
1.12   ENGINEER - The person, firm, or corporation named as  such in the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS. 
 
1.13   FIELD  ORDER - A written order effecting a change  in  the WORK  not  involving 
an adjustment in the CONTRACT  PRICE  or  an extension  of  the CONTRACT TIME, 
issued by the ENGINEER  to  the CONTRACTOR during construction. 
 
1.14   NOTICE OF AWARD - T he written notice of the accept ance  of the BID from the 
OWNER to the successful BIDDER.  
 
1.15   NOTICE  TO PROCEED - Written communication issued  by  the OWNER  to the 
CONTRACTOR authorizing him/her to proceed with  the WORK and establishing the date 
for commencement of the WORK. 
 
1.16   OWNER  -  A  public or  quasi-public  body  or  authority, corporation, association, 
partnership, or an individual for  whom the WORK is to be performed. 
 
1.17   PROJECT - The undertaking to be perfo rmed as  provided  in the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS. 
 
1.18  RE SIDENT PROJECT REPRESENTATIVE-The authorized represent of the 
OWNER who is assigned to the PROJECT site or any part thereof. 
 
1.19   SHOP  DRAWINGS - All  drawings,  diagrams,  illustrations, brochures schedules  
and other data which are prepared  by  the CONTRACTOR,   a SUBCONTRACTOR,    

47



 
 

16 
 
 

manufacturer,   SUPPLIER    or distributor,  which illus trate how specific portions of the  
WORK shall be fabricated or installed. 
 
1.20    SPECIFICATIONS  -  A  part  of  the  CONTRACT   DOCUMENTS consisting  of  
written  descriptions of a  technical  nature  of materials,   equipment,  construction 
systems,   standards   and workmanship. 
 
1.21  SUBCONTRACTOR - An individual, firm, or  corporation  having a direct contract 
with CONTRACTOR or with any other SUBCONTRACTOR for the performance of a part 
of the WORK at the site. 
 
1.22   SUBSTANTIAL  COMPLETION  -  That  date  certified  by  the ENGINEER when 
the construction of the PROJECT  or a specified part thereof  is  sufficiently  completed,  
in  accordance  with   the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS, so that the PROJECT or specified 
part can  be utilized for the purposes for which it is intended. 
 
1.23  SUPPLEMENTAL GENERAL CONDITIONS - Modifications to  General Conditions 
required by a Federal agency for participati on in  the PROJECT and approv ed by the 
agency in writing prior to  inclusion in  the  CONTRACT  DOCUMENT S, or such 
requirements  that  may  be imposed by applicable state laws. 
 
1.24   SUPPLIER  -  Any  person  or  organization  who   supplies materials or equipment 
for the WORK, including that fabricated to a special design, but who does not perform 
labor at the site. 
 
1.25   WORK  - All labor neces sary to  pr oduce  the  constructi on required  by  the 
CONTRACT  DOCUMENTS,  and  all  material s  and equipment incorporated or to be 
incorporated in the PROJECT. 
 
1.26   WRITTEN NOTICE - Any notice to any party of the  Agreement relative to any part 
of this Agreement in writ ing and  considered deliver ed  and  the  service thereof 
completed,  when  posted  by certified  or registered mail the said party at their last given 
address, or delivered in person to said party  or their authorized re presentative on the 
work. 
 
2.  ADDITIONAL INSTRUCTIONS AND DETAIL DRAWINGS 
 
2.1  The CONTRACTOR may be furnished additional instructions  and detail  drawings , 
by the ENGINEER, as necess ary to carry out   the WORK requir ed by the 2.2  The 
additional drawings and instructions thus supplied  will become  a part of the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS.  The  CONTRA CTOR  shall carry  out  the  WORK in ac cordance with  
the  additional  detail drawings and instructions. 
 
 

48



 
 

17 
 
 

 
3.  SCHEDULES, REPORTS AND RECORDS 
 
3.1   The CONTRACTOR shall submit to the OWNER such  schedule  of quantities and  
costs, progress  schedules,  payrolls,  reports, estimates,  records  and  other  data where  
applicable  as  are requir ed by the CON TRACT DOCUMENTS for the WORK to be 
performed. 
 
3.2   Prior to the fi rst partial payment estimate t he CONTRACTOR shall submit  
construction progress schedules  showing t he order in which  t he  CONT RACTOR 
proposes to carry on the  WOR K,  including dat es  at  which the various  parts of the 
WORK will  be  started, estimated date of completion of each part and, as applicable: 
 
3.2.1 The dates at which special detail drawings will be required; and 
 
3.2.2  Respective dates for submission of SHOP DRAWING S, the beginning  of  
manufacture, the testing and the  installation  of materials, supplies and equipment. 
 
3.3  The CONTRACTOR shall also s ubmit a schedule of pay ments that the  
CONTRACTOR anticipates will be earned during the  course  of the work.  
 
4.  DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATION 
 
4.1   The intent of the DRAWINGS and SPECIFICATIONS is  that  the CONTRACTO R 
shall furnish all labor, materials, tools,  equipment, and transportation necess ary for the 
proper execution of the WORK in acco rdance with the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS and 
all incidental work necessary to complete the PROJECT in an acceptable manner, ready 
for use, occupancy or operation by the OWNER. 
 
4.2  In case of conflict between the DRAWINGS and SPECIFICATIONS, the 
SPECIFICATIONS shall govern.  Figure dim ensions on  DRAWINGS shall govern over  
general DRAWINGS. 
 
Any   discrepancies  found  between   the   DRAWINGS   and SPECIFICATI ONS  site  
conditions  or  any   incons istencies   or  ambiguities   in   the  DRAWINGS  or  
SPECIFICATIONS   shall   be immediately  reported  to  the ENGINEER, in  writing,  who  
shall promptly correct such inconsistencies or ambiguities in  writing.  WORK  done   by    
the  CONTRACTOR  after   di scovery   of   such discr epancies,  inconsistencies or  
ambiguities shall be  done  at the CONTRACTOR'S risk. 
 
5.  SHOP DRAWINGS 
 
5.1   The  CONTRACTOR  shall  provide SHOP  DRAWINGS  as  may  be necessary for  
the prosecution of the WORK as  requi red  by  the CONT RACT DOCUMENTS. The  

49



 
 

18 
 
 

ENGINEER shall promptly review all  SH OP DRAWINGS.  The ENGINEER'S approval 
of any SHOP DRAWING shall  not release  the CONTRACTOR fr om responsibility for 
deviations  from CONTRACT  DOCUMENTS.   The approval of any  shop  drawings which 
substantially  deviates  from  the requirement  of  t he  CONTRACT DOCUMENTS sha ll 
be evidenced by a CHANGE ORDER. 
 
5.2   When  submitted for the ENGINEER'S  review,  SHOP  DRAWINGS shall  bear the 
CONTRACTOR'S certification that he has  reviewed, checked  and  approved  the SHOP 
DRAWINGS and that  they  are  in conformance with the requirements of the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS. 
 
5.3   Portions  of the WORK requiring a SHOP  DRAWING  or  sample submission shall 
not begin until the SHOP DRAWING or  s ubmission has been approved by the 
ENGINEER.  A copy of each approved  SH OP DRAWING  and each approved sample 
shall be kept in good order  by the  CONTRACTOR  at  the  site and  shall  be available  
to  the ENGINEER. 
 
6.  MATERIALS, SERVICES AND FACILITIES 
 
6.1   It  is understood that, ex cept  as  otherwise  specific ally stated  in the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS, the CONTRACTOR  shall  provide and pay for all materials, labor, tools, 
equipment, water, light, power, transportation, supervision, temporary construction of any 
nature,  and  all  other services and facilities  of  any  nature whatsoever  necessary to 
execute, complete, and deliver the  WORK within the specified time. 
 
6.2  Materials and equipment shall be so stored as to insure  the preservation  of their 
quality and fitness for the WORK. Stored materials  and equipment to be incorporated in 
the WORK shall  be located so as to facilities prompt inspection. 
 
6.3   Manufactured  articles, materials, and equipment  shall  be applied,   installed ,  
connected,  erected,  used, cleaned and conditioned as directed by the manufacturer. 
 
6.4   Materials, supplies, and equipment shall be  in  accordance with  samples  submitted 
by the CONTRACTOR and  approved  by  the ENGINEER. 
 
6.5  Materials, supplies or equipment to be incorporated into the WORK   shall   not  be 
purchased  by  the  CONTRACTOR   or   the SUBCONTRACTOR   subject  to  a chattel  
mortgage  or   under   a conditional sale contract or other agreement by which an interest 
is retained by the seller. 
 
7.  INSPECTION AND TESTING 
 
7.1  All materials and equipment  used in th e construction of  the PROJECT   shall be 
subject to adequate inspection and  testing  in accordance  wit h  generally accepted 

50



 
 

19 
 
 

standards, as  required  and defined in the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS or as directed by 
the City Engineer. 
 
7.2  The OWNER shall provide all inspection and testi ng  services not required by the 
CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 
 
7.3  The CONTRACTOR shall provide at the CONTRACTOR'S expense the testing and  
inspection  services  required  by  the   CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 
 
7.4    If  the  CONTRACT  DOCUMENTS,  laws,  ordi nances,   rules, regulations   or 
orders   of  any   public   authority   having jurisdiction  require  any  WORK to specifically  
be  inspected, tested,  or  approved by  someone other than the CONTRACTOR,  the 
CONTRACTOR  will  give the ENGINEER timely notice  of readiness.   
 
The  CONTRACTOR  will  then  furnish  the  ENGINEER  the  required ce rtificates of 
inspection, testing or approval. 
 
7.5   Inspections, tests, or approvals by th e ENGINEER or  others shall not relieve the 
CONTRACTOR from the obligat ions to  perform the  WO RK  in accordanc e with the 
requirements  of  the  CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 
 
7.6  The E NGINEER and the ENGINEER' S representatives will at  all times   have  to  
access  the  WORK.   In  addition,   authorized representatives and agents of any  
participating Federal or  State agency  shall  be  permitted  to  inspect  all  work, materials, 
payrolls,  records or personnel, invoices of materials and  other relevant  data and records.  
The CONTRACTOR will  provide  proper facilities  for such access and observation of the 
WORK and  also for any inspection or testing thereof. 
 
7.7  If any WORK is covered contrary to the wr itten  instructions of  the  ENGINEER  it  
must, if requested  by  the  ENGINEER,  be uncovered  for  the ENGINEER'S observation 
and  replaced  at  the CONTRACTOR'S expense. 
 
7.8   If  the ENGINEER cons iders it necessary or  advisable  that covered WORK be 
inspected or tested by other s, the CONTRACTOR, at the  ENGINEER'S request, will 
uncover, expose or  otherwise  make available for observation, inspection or testing as  
the  ENGINEER may  require, that portion of the WORK, in  question,  furnishing all 
necessary labor, materials, tools, and equipmen t.  If it  is found  that such WORK is  
defective, the CONTRACTOR will bear  all the expenses of such WORK is defective, the 
CONTRACTOR will  bear all  the  expenses  of such  uncovering,  exposure, observation, 
inspection  and testing and of satisfactory  reconstruction,  if, however, such WORK is not 
found to be defective, the  CONTRACTOR will be allowed an increase in the CONTRACT 
PRICE or an extension of  the  CONTRACT TIME, or both, directly  attributable  to  such 
uncovering,   exposure,  obs ervation,  inspection,  te sting and reconstruction and an 
appropriate CHANGE ORDER shall be issued. 

51



 
 

20 
 
 

 
8.  SUBSTITUTIONS 
 
8.1   Whenever  a  material, article, or piece  of  equipment  is identified on the DRAWING 
or SPECIFICATIONS by reference to brand name  or catalogue num bers, it shall b e 
understood that  this  is referenced  for the purpose of defining the performance or  other 
salient requirements and that other products of equal capac ities, quality  and  function 
shall be considered.   The  CONTRACT OR  may recommend  the substitution of a 
material, article, or  piece  of equipment   of equal substance and function for those 
referred  to in the CO NTRACT DOCUMENTS by reference to brand name or catalogue 
number,  and if , in the opini on of the ENGINEER, such  material, article, or piece of 
equipment is of equal substance and function to that specified, the ENGINEER may  
approve its substitution  and use by the CONT RACTOR.  Any cost differenti al shall be 
deductible from  the  CONTRACT  PRICE and the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS  shall  be 
appropriately modified by CHA NGE ORDER.  The CONTRACT OR  warrants that  if  
substitutes  are  approved, no  major  changes  in  the function   or   general  design  o f  
the  PROJECT   will   result. Incidental   changes or extra component  parts   required   to 
accommodate the substitute will be made by the CONTRACTOR without a change in the 
CONTRACT PRICE or CONTRACT TIME. 
 
9.  PATENTS 
 
9.1   The  CONTRACTOR  shall pay  all  a pplicable  royalties  and licens e   fees,  and 
shall  defend  all  suit s  or  claim s   for infringement  of  any patent rights and save the 
OWNER  harmless from  loss  on account thereof, except t hat the  OWNER  shall  be 
responsible for any such loss when a particular process,  design, or  product  of  a 
particular manufacturer  or  manufacturers  is specified, however, if the CONTRACTOR 
has reason to believe  that the design, process or product specified is an infringement of  
a patent, the CONTRACTO R shall be responsible for such loss  unless the 
CONTRACTOR promptly gives such information to the ENGINEER. 
 
10.  SURVEYS, PERMITS, REGULATIONS 
 
10.1  The OWNER shall furnish all boundary surveys and  establish all bas e lines for  
locating the principal component parts of  the WORK  together with a suitable number of 
bench marks adjacent  to the   WORK  as  shown  in  the  CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.   
From   the information provided by the OW NER, unless oth erwise specified  in the 
CONTRACT DOCUMENTS, the CONTRACTOR  shall deve lop and make  all detail  
surveys  needed for construction such  as  slope  stakes, batter boards, stakes  for pipe  
locations  and  other  working points, lines, elevations and cut sheets. 
 
10.2   The  CONTRA CTOR  shall  carefully   preserve  bench  marks, reference  points 
and stakes and, in case of willf ul or  careless destruction,   shall  be charged with the  
resulting  expense  and shall be responsible for any mistake that may be caused by their 

52



 
 

21 
 
 

unnecessary loss or disturbance. 
10.3   Permits and licenses of a temporary nat ure necessary for the prosecution of the 
WORK shall be secured and paid for by the CONTRACTOR unless otherwise stated in 
the SUPPLEMENTAL  GENERAL CONDITIONS.   Permits,  licenses  and easements  for   
permanent structures  or perma nent changes in existing facilities shall be se cured  and 
paid for by the OWNER, unless  otherwise  specified.  The CONTRACTOR shall give all 
notices and comply with all  laws, ordina nces,  rules and regulations bearing on the 
conduct of  the WORK as drawn and specified.  If the CONTRACTOR observes that the 
CONTRACT  DOCUMENTS  a re at variance therewith,  the  CONTRA CTOR shall 
promptly notify the ENGINEER in writing, and any necessary changes  shall be adjusted 
as provided in Section 13, CHANGES  IN THE WORK. 
 
11.  PROTECTION OF WORK, PROPERTY AND PERSONS 
 
11.1    The  CONTRACTOR  will  be  responsib le  for   initiating, maintaining  an d 
supervising all safety precautions and  progra ms in  connection  with  the WORK.  The 
CONTRACTOR  will  take  all necessary  precautions  for  the  safety  of,  will  provide the 
necessary  precautions  for the safety of, and will  provide  the necessary protection  to 
prevent damage, injury or loss  to  all employees  on  the  WORK and other persons who  
may  be  affected thereby,  all  the  WORK and all materials  or  equipment  to  be 
incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the site,  and other property at the site 
or adjacent thereto, in cluding  trees, shrubs,   lawns,  walks,  pavements, roadways,   
structures   and utilities  not  designated for removal, reloca tion or replacement in the  
course of construction. 
 
11.2   The  CONTRACTOR  will comply  with   all  applicable  laws, ordinanc es,  rules, 
regulations and orders of  any  public  body having jurisdiction.  The CONTRACTOR will 
erect and maintain,  as required  by  the  conditions  and  pr ogress  of  the  WORK, all 
necessary  safeguards for safety and protection.  The  CONTRACTOR will notify owners 
of adjacent utilities when pros ecution of  the WORK  may  affect them.  The  
CONTRACTOR will remedy  all  damage, injury or loss to any  property caused, directly 
or indirectly, in whole or in part, by  the C ONTRACTOR, any SUBCONT RACTOR or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or anyone who acts for any of them 
to be liable, except damage or  loss  attributable to  the  fault  of  the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS  or  to  the  acts  or omi ssions  of  the OWNER, of the ENGINEER or  
anyone  employed  by either  of   them or anyone for whose acts either of them  may  be 
liable, and not attributable, di rectly or indirectly, in whol e or in part, to the fault or 
negligence of the CONTRACTOR. 
 
11.3  In emergencies affecting t he safety of persons or the  WORK or  property  at the 
site or adjacent  thereto,   the  CONTRACTOR,  without  special ins tructions or 
authorization from the  ENGINEER or OWNER, shall act to prevent threatened damage, 
injury or loss.  
 

53



 
 

22 
 
 

The  CONTRACTOR will give t he ENGINEER prompt WRITTEN  NOTICE  of an y 
significant changes in the WORK or deviations from  CONTRACT DOCUMENTS caused 
thereby, and a CHANGE ORDER shall thereupon  be issued cov ering the changes and 
deviations involved. 
 
12.  SUPERVISION BY CONTRACTOR 
 
12.1   The CONTRACTOR will supervise and direct the WORK .   He will be solely b e 
responsible for the means,  methods  techniques, sequences  and procedures of 
construction.  The  CONTRACTOR  will employ  and  maintain  on  the WORK  a qualified  
supervisor  or superintendent  who shall have been designated in writing by the 
CONTRACTOR  as the CONTRACTOR'S representative at the site.  The supervisor  shall  
have full authority to act on  behalf  of  the CONTRACTOR  and all communications given 
to the supervisor  shall be  as  binding as if given to the CONTRACTOR.   The  supervisor 
shall be present on the site at all times as required to  perform adequate supervision and 
coordination of the WORK. 
 
13.  CHANGES IN THE WORK 
 
13.1   The  OWNER  may at any time, as  the  need  arises,  order changes  within  the 
scope of the WORK w ithout  invalidating  the Agreement.   If such changes increase or  
decrease the amount  due under  the  CONTRACT  DOCUMENTS ,  or in  the  time 
required  for performance  of  the  WORK,  an  equitable  adjustment  shall  be authorized 
by CHANGE ORDER. 
 
13.2   The  ENGINEER, also, may at any ti me, by issuing  a   F IELD ORDER,  make  
changes in the details of the WORK.  The  CONT RACTOR shall proceed with the 
performance of any changes in the WORK  so ordered by the E NGINEER unless the 
CONTRACTOR believes that  such FIELD  ORDER  entitles  t he CONTRACTOR to a 
change  in  CONTRACT PRICE or TIME, or both, in which event the CONTRACTOR shall  
give the  ENGINEER WRITTEN NOTICE thereof within seven (7) days  after the receipt  
of the ordered change.  Thereafter  the  CONTRACTOR shall document the basis for the 
change in CONTRACT PRICE or TIME WITHIN  thirty (30) days.   The CONTRACTOR 
shall not execute  such changes  pending  the  receipt of an  executed  CHANGE  ORDER  
or further instruction of the OWNER. 
 
14.  CHANGES IN CONTRACT PRICE 
 
14.1   The CONTRACT PRICE may be changed only by a CHANGE  ORDER. The value 
of any WORK covered by a CHANGE ORDER or of any  claim for  increase  or decrease  
in  the  CONTRACT   PRICE  shall   be det ermined  by one or more of the followin g 
methods in the  order of precedence listed below: 
      
     a.  Unit prices.   

54



 
 

23 
 
 

     b.  An agreed lump sum. 
 
15.  TIME FOR COMPLETION AND LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
 
15.1   The date of beginning an d the time for completion  of   the WORK  are essential  
conditions of the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS and  the WORK  embraced  shall  be 
commenced on a date  specified  in  the NOTICE TO PROCEED. 
 
15.2   The CONTRACTOR will proceed with the WORK at such rate  of progress to insure 
full completion within the CONTRACT TIME.   It is expressly understood and agreed, by 
and between the CONTRACTOR and  the OWNER,  that the CONTRACT T IME for the 
completion of  the WORK   described  herei n  is  a  reasonable  time, taking   into 
consideration  the average climatic and economic  conditions  and other factors prevailing 
in the locality of the WORK. 
  
15.3   If the CONTRACTOR sh all fail to complete the  WORK  within the  CONTRA CT 
TIME, or extension of time granted by  the  OWNER, then  the  CONTRACTOR  will pay 
to  the  OWNER  the  amount   for liquidat ed damages as specified in the B ID for each 
calendar  day that the CONTRACTOR shall be in default a fter the time stipulated in the 
CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 
 
15.4  The CONTRACTOR shall not be charged with liquidat ed damages or  any excess 
cost when the delay in completion of the  WORK  is due  to  the  following and the 
CONTRACTOR  has  promptly  given WRI TTEN NOTICE of such delay to the OWNER 
or ENGINEER. 
 
15.4.1  To any preference, priority or allocation order duly issued by the OWNER. 
 
15.4.2   To  unforeseeable  causes beyond  the  control  and  without the fault or 
negligence of the CONTRACTOR, including  but not  restricted to, acts of God, or of the 
public enemy, acts  of the  OWNER,  acts of another CONTRACTOR in the performance  
of  a contract  with  the OWNER, fires, floods,  epidemics,  quarantine restrictions,  strikes,  
freight  embargoes,  and  abnormal   and unforeseeable weather; and 
 
15.4.3  To any delays of SUBCONTRACT ORS occasioned by any of  the  causes  
specified in paragraphs 15.4.1 and  15.4.2  of  this article. 
 
15.5  If in the opinion of the ENGINEER the progress of the  WORK is  such that the 
completion date of the CONTRACT cannot be  met, for  causes other than those provided 
for in Article 15,  he  may request  the CONTRACTO R to provide additional men and  
equipment, additional hours, or both.   The cost of all shall be borne by the 
CONTRACTOR. 
 
 

55



 
 

24 
 
 

16.  CORRECTION OF WORK 
 
16.1  The CONTRACTOR shall promptly remove from the premises  all WORK rejected  
by the ENGINEER for failure to  comply  with  the CONTRACT  DOCUMENTS, whether 
incorporated in the construc tion  or not, and the CONTRACT OR shall promptly replace 
and re-execute the WORK  in  accordance  with the  CONTRACT  DOCUMENTS  and  
without expense  to the OWNER and shall bear the expense of making  good all  WORK  
of  other CONTRACTORS destroyed  or  damaged  by  such removal or replacement. 
 
16.2   All  removal  and replacement WORK shall be  done  at  the CONT RACTOR'S 
expense.  If the CONTRACTOR does not take action  to remove  such rejected WORK 
within ten (10) days after receipt  of WRITTEN  NOTICE,  the OWNER may remove such 
WORK  and  store  the materials at the expense of the CONTRACTOR. 
 
17.  SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS 
 
17.1   The CONTRACTOR shal l promptly, and before such  conditions are  disturbed, 
except in the event of an emergency,  notify  the OWNER by WRITTEN NOTICE of: 
 
17.1.1  Subsurface or latent physical conditions at the site  differing materially from those 
indicated in the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS; or 
 
17.1.2   Unknown  physical  co nditions at the  site,  of  an  unusual  nature,  differing 
materially  from  those   ordinarily encountered  and generally  recognized as inherent in 
WORK of  the character provided for in the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 
 
17.2  The OWNER shall promptly investigate the conditions, and if it  is  found that such 
conditions do so  materially  differ  and cause  an  increase or decrease in the cost of, or  
in  the  time required  for, performance of the WORK, an  equitable adjustment shall  be 
made and the CONTRACT DO CUMENTS shall be modified by  a CHANG E  ORDER.   
Any  claim  of  the  CONTRACTOR  for  adjustment hereunder shall not be allowed unless 
the required WRITTEN NOTICE has   been  given; provided  that  the OWNER  may,  if  
the  OWNER determines  the  facts so justif y, consider and adjust  any  such claims 
asserted before the date of final payment. 
 
18.  SUSPENSION OF WORK, TERMINATION AND DELAY 
 
18.1 The OWNER may suspend the WORK or any portion thereof for a period  of  not   
more than ninety days or such  further  time  as agreed  upon  by  the  CONTRACTOR, 
by  WRITTEN  NOTICE  to   the CONTRACTOR  and  the ENGINEER which shall fix the 
date  on  which WORK  shall be resumed.  The CONTRACTOR will resume the WORK  
on the date so fixed.  The CONTRACTOR will be allowed an increase in the CONTRACT 
PRICE or an extension of the CONTRACT TIME, or both, di rectly attributable to any 
suspension. 

56



 
 

25 
 
 

 
18.2   If the CONTRACTOR is adjudged a bankr upt or insolvent,  or makes  a general 
assignment for the benefit of its creditors,  or if  a trustee or receiver is appointed for the 
CONTRACTOR or  for any  of its property, or  if CONTRACTOR files a petition  to take 
advantage  of  any  debtor's  act, or  to  reorganize  under  the bankruptcy  or applicable 
laws, or repeatedly  fails  to  supply suffici ent skilled workmen or suitable materials or 
equipment, or repeatedly fails to make prompt payments to SUBCONTRACTORS or for 
labor,  materials  or equipment or disregards  laws, ordinances, rules,   regulations  or   
orders  of  any  public   body   having jurisdiction  of the  WORK or disregards the  authority  
of  the E NGINEER,  or  ot herwise violates any provis ion of  the  CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS,  then  the OWN ER may without prejudice to  any  other right or remedy  
and after giving the CONTRACT OR and its surety  a minimum  of  t en  (10) days from 
delivery of  a  WRITTEN  NOTICE, terminat e  the services of the CONTRACTOR an d 
take possession  of the PROJECT and of all ma terials, equipment, tools,  construction 
equipment  and  machinery thereon owned by the  CONTRACTOR,  and finish the WORK 
by whatever method the OWNER may deem  expedient. In such case the CONTRACTOR 
shall not be entitled to receive  any further  payment  until  the WORK is  finished.   If  the  
unpaid balance  of  the CONTRACT PRICE exceeds the direct  and  indirect costs  of  
completing  the PROJECT,  including  compensation  for additional  professional services, 
such excess SHALL BE  PAID  TO THE  CONTRACTOR.  If such costs exceed suc h 
unpaid balance,  the CONTRACTOR  will  pay the difference to  the  OWNER.   Such  
costs incurred  by  the OWNER will be determined by  the  ENGINEER  and incorporated 
in a CHANGE ORDER. 
 
18.3  Where the CONTRACTOR'S services have been so terminated  by the  OWNER, 
said termination shall not affect any right  of  the OWNER   against  the CONTRACTOR  
then  existing  or  which   may thereafter  a ccrue.   Any retention or  payment of monies  
by  the OWNER  due  the CONTRACTOR will not release the  CONTRACTOR  from 
compliance with the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 
  
18.4   After ten (10) days fr om delivery of a WRITTEN  NO TICE  to the CONTRACTOR 
and the ENGINEER, the OWNER may, without cause and without prejudice to any other 
right or remedy, elect to  abandon the  PROJEC T   and  terminate the CONTRACT.   In  
such  case  the CONTRACTOR  shall  be  paid for all WORK  executed  and any expense 
sustained plus reasonable profit. 
 
18.5  If, through no act or fault of the CONTRACTOR, the WORK  is suspended  for period 
of more than ninety (90) days by the  OWNER or  under  an order of court or other public  
authority,  or  the EN GINEER  fails to act on any request for payment within  thirty (30)  
days after it is submitted, or the OWNER fails  to  pay  the CONTRACTOR  substantially  
the sum approved by  the  ENGINEER  or awar ded  by arbitrators within thirty (30) days 
of  its  approval and  present ation, then the CONTRACTOR ma y, after ten  (10)  days  
from  delivery of a WRITTEN NOTICE to the OWNER and the  ENGINEER terminate the 
CONTRACT and recover from the OWNER paym ent for all WORK  exec uted  and all 

57



 
 

26 
 
 

expenses sustained.  In additi on  and  in lieu of terminating the CONTRACT, if the 
ENGINEER has failed  to act  on a request for payment or if the OWNER has failed to  
make any  payment as afor esaid, the CONTRACTOR may upon ten (10)  days written 
notice to the OWNER and the ENGINEER stop the WORK  unt il paid all amounts then 
due, in which event and upon resumption  of  the WORK CHANGE ORDERS shall be 
issued for adjusting the CONTRACT PRICE  or extending the CONTRACT TIME or both 
to  compensate  for the costs and delays attributable to the stoppage of the WORK. 
 
18.6   If  the performance of all or any portion of the  WO RK  is suspended,  delayed, or 
interrupted as a result of a  failure  of t he  OWNER  or ENGINEER to act within the time 
specified  in  the CONTRA CT  DOCUMENTS,  or  if  no  time  is  specified,  within  a 
reasonable  time,  an  adjustmen t in the  C ONTRACT  PRICE  or  an extension of the 
CONTRACT TIME, or both, s hall be made by  CHANGE ORDE R  to  compensate  the 
CONTRACTOR for the  costs  and  delay s necessarily caused by the failure of the 
OWNER or ENGINEER. 
 
19.  PAYMENT TO CONTRACTOR 
 
19.1   At least ten (10) days before each progress payment  falls due  (one a month), the 
CONTRACTOR will submit to the ENGINEER  a partial payment estimate filled out and 
signed by the  CONTRACTOR covering  the  WORK performed during the period covered  
by  the partial  payment  estimate  and supported by  such  data  as  the ENGINEER  may 
reasonably require. If payment is requested on  the basis of materials and equipment not 
incorporated in the WORK but  delivered  and suitably  stored at or near the site,  the  
partial payment  esti mate  shall also be  accompanied by  such supporting data,   
satisfactory to the OWNER, as will establish  the  OWNER'S title  to the  material an d 
equipment and  protect  the  OWNER'S interest therein, including applicable insurance.   
The  ENGINEER will, within ten (10) days after receipt of each partial  payment estimate,  
either  indicate in writing approval of  payment,  and present the partial payment estimate 
to the OWNER, or return  the partial paym ent estimate to the CONTRACTOR indicating 
in  writing the reason for refusing to appr ove payment.  In the latter  case, the  
CONTRACTOR may make the necessary corrections and  resubmit the  partial payment 
estimate.  The OWNER will, within  ten  ( 10) days of presentation of an approved partial 
payment estimate, pay the  CONTRACTO R a progress payment on the basis of  the  
approved partial payment estimate less the retainage.  The retainage shall be an amount 
equal to 10% of said estimate until 50% of the  work has  been completed.  At 50% 
completion, further partial  payment shall be made in full to the C ONTRACTOR and no 
additional amounts may be retai ned unless the ENGINEER certif ies that the job is not 
proceeding satisfactorily, but amounts previously  retained  shall not  be  paid to the 
CONTRACTOR.  At 50% completion or  any  time thereafter  when  the progress of the 
WORK is  not  satisfactory, addi tional  amounts  may be retained  but in no  event  shall  
the total  retainage  be  more  than 10% of the  value  of  the  work completed. Up on 
substantial completion of the work, any  amount retained  may be paid to the 
CONTRACTOR.  When the WORK has  been substantially completed except for WORK 

58



 
 

27 
 
 

which cannot be completed because of w eather conditions, lack of materials or other 
reasons which  in  the  judgment  of the OWNER  are  valid  reasons  for noncompletion, 
the OWNER may make additional payment s,  retaining at all times an amount sufficient 
to cover the estimated cost  of the WORK still to be completed.  
 
19.2   The request for payment may also include an allowance  for the cost of such major 
materials and equipment which are suitably stored either at or near the site. 
 
19.3  Prior SUBSTANTIAL CO MPLETION, the OWNER, with the  approval of  the 
ENGINEER and with the concurrence of the CO NTRACTOR,  may use  any  completed 
or substantially completed  portions  of  th e WORK.   Such use shall not c onstitute an 
acceptance of such portions of the WORK.   
 
19.4   The OWNER shall hav e the right to ent er the premises for the purpose of doing  
work not covered b y the CONTRA CT DOCUMENTS. This provision shall not b e 
construed as relieving the CONTRACTOR of  the  sole responsibility for the care and 
protection  of  the WORK,  or the restoration of any damaged WORK except such as may 
be caused by agents or employees of the OWNER. 
 
19.5   Upon completion and acceptance of t he WORK,  the  ENGIN EER shall  issue a 
certificate attached to the final payment  re quest that  the  WOR K  has been accepted 
under the  conditions  of  the CONTRACT  DOCUMENTS.   The  entire balance found to  
be  due  the CONTRACTOR,  including the retained percentages, but except  such sums  
as may be lawfully retained by the OWNER, shall be paid  to the CONTRACTOR  within  
thirty  (30)  days  of  completion   and acceptance of the WORK. 
 
19.6  The CONTRACTOR will indemnify and save the OWNER or OWNER'S agents 
harmless from all claims growing out of the lawful  demand of SUBCONT RACTORS, 
laborers, workmen, mechanics, materialm en, and furnishers of machinery and parts  
thereof, equipment, tools,  and all  supplies, incurred in the furtherance of the performance  
of the WORK.  The CONTRACTOR shall, at the OWNER'S request, furnish satisfactory   
evidence  that  all  obligat ions  of  the   nature  designated  above have been paid,  
discharged, or waived.  If  t he CONTRACTOR  fails to do so the OWNER, may, after 
having  notified the  CONTRACTOR,  either  pay unpaid bills or withhold  from  the 
CONTRACTOR'S unpaid compensation a sum of money deemed reasonably sufficient   
to  pay  any  and  all  such  lawful  claims   until satisfactory evidence is furnished that all 
liabilities have been fully  discharged  wher eupon payment to the CONTRACTOR  shall  
be resumed  in accordance with the terms of the CONTRACT  DOCUMENTS, but  in  no  
event  shall the  provisions  of  this  sentence be construed to impose any obligations  
upon the OWNER to either  the CONTRACT OR,  the  CONTRACTOR'S sur ety, or any  
third  party.   In paying any unpaid bills of the CONTRACTOR, any payment so made by 
the  OWN ER,  shall  be c onsidered as a  payment  made  under  the CONTRACT  
DOCUMENTS by the OWNER to the CONTRACTOR and the  OWNER shall not be liable 
to the CONTRACTOR for any such payments  made in good faith. 

59



 
 

28 
 
 

 
19.7   If the OWNER fails to make payment  thirty (30) days  after approval by the 
ENGINEER, in addition to other remedies avai lable to  the  CONTRACTOR, there shall  
be added to  each  such  payment interest  at the maximum legal rate commencing on 
the  first  day after  said  payment is due and continuing until the  payment  is received by 
the CONTRACTOR.   
 
20.  ACCEPTANCE OF FINAL PAYMENT AS RELEASE 
 
20.1  The acceptance by the CONTRACTOR of final payment shall  be and shall operate 
as a release to the OWNER of all claims and all liability  to the CONTRACTOR other than 
claims in stated  amounts as may be specifically excepted by the CONTRACTOR for all  
things done or furnished in connection with this WORK and for every  act and  neglect of 
the OWNER and others relating or  arising  out  of this WORK.  Any payment, however, 
final or ot herwise, shall  not release th e CONTRACTOR or its sureties from any 
obligations under the   CONTRACT DOCUMENTS  or  the   Performance   and   Payment 
BONDS/Irrevocable Letter of Credit or other sureties held by  the City. 
 
21.  INSURANCE 
 
21.1   The CONTRACTOR shall purchase and maintain such  insurance as  will protect  
it from cl aims set forth below which  ma y  aris e out  o f, or result fro m, the 
CONTRACTOR'S execution of  the  WORK, whether  such exec ution be by the 
CONTRACTOR, any  SUBCONTRACTOR, or  by anyone directly or indirectly employed 
by any of them,  or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable: 
 
21.1.1   Claims  under  workmen's  compensati on,  disability  benefit and other similar 
employee benefit acts; 
 
21.1.2   Claims  for  damages  because  of  bodily   injury,  occupation sickness or disease, 
or death of employees; 
 
21.1.3   Claims  for  damages  because  of  bodily   injury,  sickness or disease, or death 
of any person other than employees; 
 
21.1.4  Claims for damages ins ured by usual personal  injury  liability  coverage  which 
are sustained (1) by any person  as  a result   of  an  offense  directly  or  indirectly related   
to employment of such person by the CONTRACTOR, or (2) by any person; and 
 
21.1.5    Claims  for  damages  because  of  injury  to   or  destruction of tangible property, 
including loss of use resulting therefrom. 
 
21.2  Certificates of Insurance acceptable to the OWNER shall  be filed  with the OWNER 
prior to commencement of the  WORK.   These Certificates  shall contain a provision that  

60



 
 

29 
 
 

coverages  afforded under the polic ies will not be cancelled unless at least  fifteen (15) 
days prior WRITTEN NOTICE has been given to the OWNER. 
 
21.3    The  CONTRACTOR  shall  procure  and  maintain,  at   the CONTRACTOR'S own  
expense, during the CONTRACT  TIME,  Liability insurance as hereinafter specified: 
 
21.3.l   C ONTRACTOR'S General Public  Liability and  Property  Damage  Insurance 
including  vehicle  coverage  issued  to   the CON TRACTOR  and  protecting the 
CONTRACTOR from  all  clai ms  for personal injury, i ncluding death, and all claims for 
destruction of  or damage to property, arising out of or in  connection  with any operations  
under  the  CONTRACT  DOCUMENT S,  w hether   such operations be by the 
CONTRACTOR or by any SUB CONTRACTOR  employed by  the CONTRACTOR or 
anyone directly or indirectly   empl oyed  by the CONTRACTO R or by a 
SUBCONTRACTOR employed by the  CONTRACTOR. Insurance shall be written with a 
limit of liability of not  less ,t han  $1,000,000  for all damages ar ising out of  bodily injury  
including  death, at  any  time  resulting  t herefrom,   sustained   by  any one person in 
any one accident; and a limit of li ability  of not less than $1,000, 000 aggregate for any  
such damages sustained by  two or more per sons in any one accident.  Insurance shall  
be written  with a limit of li ability of not less than $500,000 for all  property  damage  
sustained by any one  person  i n  any  one acciden t;  and  a limit of liability of not  less   
than  $500,000 aggregate for any such damage sustained by two or more persons in any 
one accident. 
 
21.3.2   The  CONTRACTOR  shall  acquire  and  maintain,  if  applicable, Fire and 
Extended Coverage Insurance upon the PROJECT to the full insurable value thereof for 
the benefit of the OWNER,  the CONTRACTOR, and SU BCONTRACTORS as their  
interest may  appear. This  provision  shall  in  no  way  release  the  CONTRACTOR o r 
CONTRACTOR'S surety from obligations under the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS to fully 
complete the PROJECT. 
 
21.4    The  CONTRACTOR  shall  procure  and  maintain,  at   the CONTRACTOR'S own 
expense, during the CONTRACT TIME, in accordance with the provisions of the laws of 
the state in which the WORK is  performed,    Work men's   Compensation Insurance,    
including occupational  disease  provisions, for all  of  the CONTRACTOR' S employees  
at  the site of the PROJECT and in case  any  WORK  is sublet, the CONTRACTOR shall 
require such SUBCONTRACT OR similarly to  provide Workmen's   Compensation   
Insurance,    including occupational diseas e provisions for all of the latter's employees  
unless  such employees are covered by the protection afforded  by the  CONTRACTOR.   
In  case any class  of  employees  engaged  in hazardous work under this contract at the 
site of the PROJECT  is not   protected under  Workmen's  Compensation   statute,   the 
CONTRACTOR  shall provide, and shall ca use each SUBCONTRACTOR  to provide,  
adequate and suitable insurance fo r the  protection  of i tems employees not otherwise 
protected. 
 

61



 
 

30 
 
 

21.5  The CONTRACTOR shall secure, if applicable, "All Risk" ty pe Builder's  Risk 
Insurance  for WORK  to  be  performed.   Unless specifically  authorized  by  the OWNER,  
the  amount  of   such insu rance  shall not be less than  the CONTRACT PRICE  totaled  
in the BID.  The polic y shall cover not less than the losses due  to fire, explosion, hail, 
lightning, vandalism, malicious  mischief, wind,  collapse,  riot, aircraft, and smoke during  
the  CONTRACT TIME,  and unt il the WORK is accepted by the OWNER.   The  policy 
shall name as the insured the CONTRACTOR, and the OWNER. 
 
22.  CONTRACT SECURITY 
 
22.1  The CONTRACTOR shall within ten (10) days after the receipt of the NOTICE OF 
AWARD furnish the OWNER with a Perf ormance  BOND and  a  Payment 
BOND/Irrevocable  Letter  of  Credit  or   other securities  acceptable  to the City in penal 
sums  equal  to  the amount of the CONTRACT PRICE, conditioned upon the performance 
by the CONTRACTOR of all undertakings, covenants, terms,  conditions and  agreements  
of the C ONTRACT DOCUMENTS, and upon  the  prompt payment by  the 
CONTRACTOR to all persons  supply ing  labor  and materials in t he prosecution of the 
WORK provided by the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  Such BONDS shall be executed by 
the CONTRACTOR and  a cor porate  bonding company licensed to transact such 
business  in the  state in which the WORK is to be performed and named on  the current 
list of "Surety Companies Acceptable on F ederal Bonds" as published in the Treasury 
Department Circular Number  570.   The expense  of  t hese BONDS/Irrevocable Letters 
of Credit  shall  be bor ne  by  the CONTRACTOR.  If at any time a surety on  any  such 
BOND is declared a bankrupt or l oses its right to do business  in the state in which the 
WORK is to be performed or is removed from the list  of  Su rety  Companies  accepted  
on  Feder al   Bonds , CONTRACTOR shall within ten (10) days after notice from the 
OWNER to  do so, su bstitute an acceptable BOND  (or  BO NDS)/Irrevocable Letter  of 
Credit or other security acceptable to the Cit y,  such form  and sum and signed by such 
other surety or sureties as  may be satisfac tory to the OWNER.  The premiums on such 
BOND shall be paid  by the CONTRACTOR.  No further payment shall be deemed  due 
nor  shall be made until the new surety  or sureties  shall  have furnished an acceptable 
BOND to the OWNER. 
 
23.  ASSIGNMENTS 
 
23.1  Neither the C ONTRACTOR nor the OWNE R shall sell,  tran sfer, assign,  or  
otherwise  dispose of the Contract  or  any  portion thereof,  or  of  any right, title or interest  
therein,  or  any obligations  thereunder,  without written consent  of  the  other party. 
 
24.  INDEMNIFICATION 
 
24.1   The CONTRACTOR will indemni fy and hold harmless the  OWNER and the 
ENGINEER and their agents and employees fr om and  against all  claims,  damages, 
losses and expens es  including  attorney's fees   ari sing  out of or  resulting from the 

62



 
 

31 
 
 

performance  of  the WORK,  provided that any such claims, damage, loss or expense is 
attributable to bodily injury, sickness, diseas e or death, or  to injury to or destruction of 
tangible property including the  loss of use resulting therefrom; and is caused in whole or 
in part  by any  negligent or willful act or  omission of  the CONTRACTOR,  
and SUBCONTRACTOR,  anyone directly  or indi rectly employed by any  of them or 
anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable. 
 
24.2  In any and all claims against the OWNER or the ENGINEER, or any  of  their agents  
or employees,  by  any  employee  of  the CONTRACTOR,  any SUB CONTRACTOR, 
anyone  directly  or  indirectly employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of 
them maybe liable, the indemnification obligation shall not be limited in any  way  by  any 
limitation on the amount or  type  of  damages, compensa tion or benefits payable by or  
for the CONTRACTOR or  any SUBCONT RACTOR  under  workmen's  compensatio n  
acts,   disability benefits acts or other employee benefits acts. 
 
24.3  The obligation of the CONTRACTOR under this paragraph shall not  extend  to the 
liability of the  ENGINEER,  it s  agents  or employees   arising  out of the preparation o r 
approval  of  maps, DRAWINGS,  opinions, reports, surveys, CHANGE ORDER,  designs  
or SPECIFICATIONS. 
 
25.  SEPARATE CONTRACTS 
 
25.1   The  OWNER reserves th e right to l et  other  cont racts  in connection with this  
PROJECT.  The CONTRACTO R shall affo rd  other CONTRACTORS  reasonable 
opportunity  for  the  introduction  and storage  of their materials and the execution of their 
WORK,  and shall  properly connect and coordinate the WORK with theirs.   If the proper 
execution or results of any part of the  C ONTRACTOR'S WORK  depends  upon  the  
WORK  of  any  other  CONTRACTOR,   the CONTRACTOR shall inspect and promptly 
report to the ENGINEER  any defects  in such WORK that render it unsuitable for  such  
proper execution and results. 
 
25.2   The  OWNER  may perform  additional  WORK  related  to  the PROJECT   or the 
OWNER  may  let  other  cont racts   containing provisions   similar  to these.  The 
CONTRACTOR  will  afford  the other  CO NTRACTORS  who  are parties to such 
Contracts  (or  the OWNER, if the OW NER is performing the additional WORK) 
reasonable opportunity  for  the introduction and storage of  materials  and equipment  
and the execution of WORK, and shall properly  connect and coordinate the WORK with 
theirs. 
 
25.3 If the performance of additional WORK by other  CONTRACTORS or the OWNER 
is not noted in the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS prior to  the execution of the CONTRACT, 
written notice thereof shall be  given to the CONTRACTOR prior to starting any such  
additional WORK.  If the  CO NTRACTOR believes that the performance   of   such   
additional   WORK  by  the  OWNER  or  others  involves  it in  

63



 
 

32 
 
 

additional expense  or  entitles it to an extens ion of the CONTRACT TIME, the  
CONTRACTOR may make a claim thereof as provided in Sections 14 and 15. 
 
26.  SUBCONTRACTING 
 
26.1   The  CONTRA CTOR  may utilize  th e  services  of  specialty SUB CONTRACTS  
on  those  parts of the WORK  which,  under  normal contracting    practices,    are  
performed    by    specialty SUBCONTRACTORS. 
 
26.2   The CONTRACTOR shall not award WORK  to  SUBCONTRACTOR(s), in excess 
of fifty (50%) percent of t he CONTRACT PRICE,  wit hout prior written approval of the 
OWNER. 
 
26.3  The CONTRACTOR shall be fully responsib le to the OWN ER  for the  acts  and 
omissions of its SUBCONTRACTORS,  and  of  persons either  directly or indirectly  
employed by them, as the CONTRACTOR is  for the acts and omissions of persons 
directly employed by the CONTRACTOR.   
 
26.4   The  CONTRACTOR shall cause appropriate provisions  to  be inserted  in  all  
subcontracts  relative to  the  WORK  to  bind SUBCONTR ACTORS  to  th e 
CONTRACTOR by the terms of  the  CONTRACT DOCUMENTS insofar as applicable to 
the WORK of SUBCONTRACTORS and to give the CONTRACTOR the same power as 
regards terminating  any subcontract t hat the OWNER may exercis e over the 
CONTRACTOR under any provision of the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 
 
26.5   Nothing  contained  in  this  CONTRACT  shall  create  any contractual relationship 
between any SUBCONTRACTOR and the OWNER. (Revised 2-16-83, PN 869) 
 
27.  ENGINEER'S AUTHORITY 
 
27.1  The ENGINEER shall act as the OWNER' S representative during the construction 
period, shall decide questions which may  arise as  to quality and acceptability of materials 
furnished and  WORK performed,  and  shall  in terpret  the  intent  of  the CONTRACT  
DOCUMENTS in a fair and unbiased manner.  The ENGINEER will  make visits  to  the 
site and determine if the WORK is  proc eeding  in accordanc e with the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS. 
 
27.2   The CONTRACTOR will be held strict ly to the intent of  the CONTRA CT 
DOCUMENTS  in  regard  to  the  quality  of   materials, workmanship, and execution of 
the WORK.    Inspections may be made at the fa ctory or fabrication  plant of the source 
of  material supply. 
 
27.3   The ENGINEER will not be responsible fo r the  constructi on means,   controls , 
techniques,   sequences,   procedures,    or construction safety. 

64



 
 

33 
 
 

 
27.4   The  ENGINEER shall prompt ly make  decisions  relative  to interpretation of the 
CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
28.  LAND AND RIGHTS-OF-WAY 
 
28.1   Prior  to issuance of  NOTICE TO PROCEED, the  OW NER  shall obtain all land 
and rights-of-way necessary for carrying out  and for  the completion of the WORK to be 
performed pursuant  to  the CONTRACT  DOCUMENTS, unless otherwise mutually 
agreed. 
 
28.2  The OWNER shall provide to the CONTRACTOR information which delineates and  
describes  the  lands  owned  and  rights-of-way acquired. 
 
28.3  The CONTRACTOR shall provide at it s own expense and without liab ility  to  the 
OWNER any additional land and  access  theret o that  the  CONTRACTOR  may desire  
for  temporary   construction facilities, or for storage of materials. 
 
29.  GUARANTEE 
 
29.1  The CONTRACTOR sha ll guarantee all materials and  equipment furnished  and 
WORK performed for a period of one (1)  year  from the dat e of SUBSTANTIAL 
COMPLETION.  The CONTRACTOR warrants  and guarantees  for  a  period  of one (1)  
year  from  the  date  of SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION of the system that the completed 
system is free from a ll defects due to faulty materials or workmanship  and the   
CONTRACTOR  shall promptly make such corrections as  may  be necessary by reason 
of such defects including the repairs of  any damage to other parts of the system resulting 
from such  defects. The  OWNER will give notice of observed defec ts with  reasonable 
promptness.  In the event t hat the CONTRACTOR should fail to make such  repairs,  
adjustments,  or  other WORK  that  may  be  made necessa ry  by  such defects, the 
OWNER may do so and  charge  the CONTRA CTOR the cost thereby inc urred.  The 
Performance BOND shall remain in full force and effect through the guarantee period.  
 
30.  ARBITRATION BY MUTUAL AGREEMENT (Revised 2-16-83, PN 869) 
 
30.1  All claims, disputes, and other matters in question arising out  of,  or  relating  to, 
the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS  or  the  breach thereof,  ex cept for claims which hav e 
been waived by  making  an acceptance  of  fi nal payment as provided by Section 20 ,  
may  be decided  by   arbitration  if the  parties  mutually  agree.   Any agreement  to 
arbitrate shall be spec ifically  enforceable  under the  prevaili ng  arbitration  law.  The  
award  rendered  by  the arbitrators  shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon  it 
in  any court having jurisdiction thereof. (Revised  2-16-83,  PN 869.) 
 
30.2   Notice  of the request for arbitration shall be  filed  in writing with the other party to 
the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS and a copy shall be filed with the ENGINEER.  Reques t 

65



 
 

34 
 
 

for arbitration  shall in  no  event be made on any claim, dispute, or other  matter  in 
question  which  would  be barred by the  applic able  statute  of limitations.  (Revised 
2-16-83, PN 869.) 
30.3   The  CONTRACTOR will carry on the WORK  and  maintain  the progress  schedule  
during any arbitration   proceedings,  unless otherwise mutually agreed in writing. 
 
31.  TAXES 
 
31.1  The CONTRACTOR will p ay all sale s, consumer, use, and other si milar taxes 
required by the laws of the place where the WORK is performed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

66



 
 

35 
 
 

NOTICE OF AWARD 
 
TO:  _ .                                                           
                                                                    
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Proposed Crosswalk on South Main 
 
The OWNER had considered the BID submitted by you for the above des cribed WORK  
in response to its Advertisement for  Bids  date     and Information for Bidders. 
 
You are hereby notified that your BID has been accepted for items in the amount of  
$                                        . 
 
You are required by the Information for Bidders to execute the Agreement and furnish the 
required certificates of insurance within ten (10) calendar days from the date of this Notice 
to you. 
 
If  you fail to execute said Ag reement within ten (10) days from  the date of this Notice,  
said OWNER will be entitled to consider all your  rights arising  out of the OWNER’S 
acceptance of your BID  as abandoned.  The OWNER will be entitled to such other rights 
as may be granted by law. 
 
You are required to return an acknowledged copy of this NOTICE OF AWARD to the 
OWNER. 
 
Dated this                             day of                                 , 20  16     . 
 
                                                      CITY OF BREWER 
                                                      By___________________________________                      
 
                                                     Title__________________________________                      
 
                                      ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICE 
 
Receipt of the above NOTICE OF AWARD is hereby acknowledged by                     
 
                                    This, the                            day of                        , 20     . 
 
By___________________________                                                     
 
Title__________________________                                                  
                                  
 
 
                                                       

67



 
 

36 
 
 

NOTICE TO PROCEED 
 
 
To:        Date:__ _____________________________                       
 
                                      Project: Proposed Crosswalk on South Main             
  
                            Fiscal Year 2017                           
  
     
 You are hereby notified to commence WORK in accordance with the Agreement dated    

                       , 2016      , on  or  before                                  ,  20 16    , and 
you are to complete the  WORK  by                         , 2016__. 
 
                                                       CITY OF BREWER 
 
      
                                                       By______________________                                                         
 
                                                       Title       City Engineer_______                          
 
     ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICE 
 
Receipt  of the  above NOTICE TO 
 
PROCEED is hereby acknowledged 
 
by                                           ,  
 
this the                                day  
 
of                                , 20      . 
 
 
 
By_________________________                                             
 
Title________________________                                          
 
 
 
                                    
 
 

68



 
 

37 
 
 

MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC 
 

 
A.  GENERAL 
 
     Description.    This  Wo rk  shall  consist  of   furnis hing, installing,  maintaining  and 
removing  traffic  control  devices necessary   to  provide  reasonable  protection  for 
motorists, pedestrians  and  construction workers in accor dance  with  these 
Specifications and the Plans.  
 
     Traffic control devices include signs, signals, lightin g devices, markings, barricades,  
channelizing, and hand signaling devices and flaggers. 
  
B.  MATERIALS  
 
     All   traffic   control  devices shall   c onform   to   the require ments of Part VI of the 
latest edition of the MUTCD unless otherwise provided herein.  
 
     All signs, barricades, drums and vertical panel markers shall   be reflectorized with 
construction grade   reflective sheeting.  Both the orange and whit e areas of drums, 
barricades and panel markers shall be reflectorized.  
 
     Material  for  construction  signs shall  be  high  density, overlaid    "Douglas  Fir   
Plywood",  conforming  to   Commercial Standard  CS 45-60, "Douglas F ir Plywood", 
published by the  U.S. Department of Commerce, or an approved equal.  
 
     Signs   Only signs with symbol me ssages conforming to the design of the MUTCD 
shall be used unless the Engineer approves the substitution of word messages.  
 
     652.05   Other Devices  Vertical pane l markers  shall  be 10-1  orange and white 
striped, 8 inches wide by 24 inches  high.     Cones  shall  be  orange  in color and when  
at  night  shall  be reflectorized  on  the c onical portion with at least  174  square inches 
of white construction grade reflective sheeting. 
 
     Drums shall be of metal, plastic or other yielding material and shall be approximately 
36 inches high and a minimum  of  18 inches in  diameter.  There shall be 2 reflectorized 
orange and  2 reflectorized white stripes at least 4 inches wide on each drum.  
 
     Type  I barricades shall be 8 feet in length with an  8-inch wide  rail mounted 3 feet 
above the ground.  Type  II  barricades shall  be 2 feet in length with two 8-inch wide  
rails.  The top rail shall be mounted 3 feet above the ground. 
 
 
 

69



 
 

38 
 
 

C.  CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS 
 
      Prior  to  starting  any work on any  part  of  the  project adjacent to or being used by  
the traveling public, the Contractor shall   install  the  appropriate  traffic  control devices   
in accordance with the Plans, specifications  and the latest  edition of  MUTCD. Part VI.  
The Contractor shall continuous ly  maintain the  traffic  control devices in their  proper  
position,  clean, legible and in good repair  throughout the duration of the  work.  If notified 
that the traffic control devices are not in place  or not  properly  maintained,  the Contractor  
may  be  ordered  to immediately  suspend work until all deficiencies  are  corrected.                           
 
     No   equipment   or   vehicles  of   the   Contractor ,   his subcontractor or employees 
engaged in work on this contract shall be  park ed,  stopped on lanes carrying traffic, or  
on  lanes  or shoulders adjacent to lanes carrying traffic, at any time, except as required 
by ongoing work operations.  
 
     All  work  areas in or  adjacent to  the  roadway  sha ll  be protected by vertical panel 
markers, barricades, drums,  cones, as  shown  on  the plans or as directed  by  the City  
Engineer.  Channelization  shall  be continuous in both  directions  for  the length of the 
project in all areas where the centerline strip  is not effective.  
 
    Installation  of  Traffic  Control  Devices.   Easel-mount ed signs  shall  be  erected so 
that the bottom of  the  sign  is  a minimum  of 3-feet above the traveled way.  
Post-mounted  signs shall be erec ted so the bottom of the sign is between 5 feet  and 7 
feet  above  the travel way.  Signs may be  mounted  l ower  or higher to fit the situation 
when authorized by the Engineer.  
 
     Cones  shall be either weighted or nailed, but  if  weighted shall  not  be  weighted with 
tires unless the  tires  have  been radially   slic ed  to  a  maximum  of   one-half  their    
original thickness.                           
 
     Vertical  panel markers shall be mount ed with the top of  at least 4 feet above the 
traveled way.  
 
          Drums  shall not be weighted on the top.   Drain  holes shall  be  provided  to prevent 
water from  accumulating  in  the drums.  Drums may be weighted with loose dry sand. 
     The Contractor shall maintain the devices in proper posit ion and clean them as 
necessary.  
 
     The Contractor shall replace damaged traffic control devices with devices of equal 
quality, as directed by the City Engineer.  
 
    Traffic  Control.   The C ontractor shall provide  a  roadway  width  as  specified  or as  
directed.   Vertical panel ma rkers, drums, cones or striping shall be used to clearly 
delineate  the roadway through the construction area as directed.  

70



 
 

39 
 
 

 
     The traffic control devices shall be moved or removed as the work progresses to 
assure compatibility between the use  of  the traffic  contro l devices and the traffic flow. 
Traffic  control devices  which  become unnecessary shall be  immediately  removed from 
use.  
 
D.  FLAGGERS 
 
     As  called for on the traffic control plans, or as necessary to provide safe passage for 
the public, the  contractor shall furnish flag gers to control traffic through or around  wo rk 
areas. 
 
     Orange  clothing, such as a vest, shirt or jacket  and  hard hats shall be furnished for 
and worn by flaggers.  For  nighttime conditions     similar     outside     garments shall be  
reflectorized and lighted hand signal devices shall be used.  
 
     Only signals which conform to the latest revision of MUTCD, Part VI, may be used.  
 
     While flagging, the flagger should stand either on  the shoulder  adjacent  to  the traffic 
being controlled  or  in  the barricaded lane.  At a spot obstruction, the flagger may stand 
on the shoulder opposite the barricaded sect ions to operate effectively. Under no 
circumstances shall the flagger stand in the lane below that used by moving traffic.  The 
flagger should be clearly visible to approaching traffic at all times and should stand alone.  
 
     When conditions  do  not allow for  proper  approach  si ght distance  of  a flagger or 
storage space  for  waiting  vehicles, additional flaggers shall be used that the rear of the 
backlogged traffic  or at a point where appr oaching vehicles  hav e  adequate stopping 
sight distance to the rear of the backlogged traffic.  
 
E.  WARNING LIGHTS 
 
     Warning  lights shall be installed at  locations  designated prior to any work being done 
the portion of roadway being used by traffic.   Upon i nstallation, all warning lights shall 
remain  in continuous  operation  during  t he life  of  the  project  unless otherwise 
authorized.  
 
     When  a  suitable  120  volt  AC  power  service  source  is available  within  500  feet  
of  the  designated  warning  light location,  power  operati ng flashing lights shall be  
installed.  Two    alternately    flashing    lamps    shall    be    mounted approximately 24 
inches apart.  
 
     When a suitable 120 volt AC power serv ice source is not available, battery-operated 
flashing lights may be erected.  Four fl ashing lamps shall be mounted approximately 6 
inches above the sign spaced approximately 12 inches apart.  

71



 
 

40 
 
 

 
The  power  service connections shall be  installed  to  the satisfaction  of  both the power 
company and the  Engineer.   The Contractor  shall make all necessary arrangements for  
the  power service  connecti ons and be responsible for all charges incurred thereby,  
including power charges.  The C ontractor shall also  be responsible for  all outstandin g 
bills from the  electric  power company for preliminary work done by the electric company 
for the power service connection.  
 
     When  batteries are required for  ba ttery-operated  flashing lights, they shall be 
provided by the Contractor as necessary.  
 
F.  MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT 
 
     All work under this item shall be inci dental to the work and s hall include all labor,  
equipment, and materials for  performing the work.  
 
                                            
 
                         

72



TO: Hampden Town Council, Services Committee 

FROM: Angus Jennings, Town Manager 

DATE: November 10, 2017 

RE: Agenda item 4.a, Public Safety Strategic Plan 

Please find enclosed the Hampden Public Safety Five-Year Strategic Plan. Sergeant Bailey and Lt. 

Lundstrom will present the plan at Monday’s meeting, and following the Committee’s consideration I 

also look forward to placing this item on an upcoming Town Council agenda for broader public 

presentation. 

I will not be looking for specific Committee referral on certain aspects of the plan that would have future 

budget implications (i.e. level of force changes over time, as Chief Rogers had presented at the February 

2017 annual Goals Setting session). However, I recommend that Councilors’ consider the plan’s 

recommended changes – focusing in particular on those that would require Council support in future 

Town budgeting. Starting these conversations now is expected to ensure that, leading up to the FY19 

budget process, there is adequate time for full consideration of potential force level changes. 

 

 

  

73

townmanager
Typewritten Text
4-a



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



TO: Hampden Town Council, Services Committee 

FROM: Angus Jennings, Town Manager 

DATE: November 10, 2017 

RE: Agenda item 4.b, Policy Review, Hunting on Town Land 

As the Council is aware, since my tenure began in August 2015 I have formalized the prior Manager’s 

approach to allowing hunting on Town owned land. 

When I was first approached by a hunter requesting such permission – which as I recall was during my 

first week on the job – I found a file including permissions to individuals signed by the former Manager. 

The permission form was the same as is used by private landowners to authorize hunting on their land. 

I proceeded on this basis in the fall of 2015, but also formalized the approach in several way in order to 

manage the Town’s potential risk, provide clarity to authorized hunters regarding land and other 

applicable restrictions, and establish a system with Hampden Public Safety to maintain records 

regarding authorized access such as in the event of questions about parked vehicles. I have also 

conducted limited research regarding what other Maine towns allow hunting on Town land, and subject 

to what (if any) limitations (such as liability waivers, bow-hunting only, etc.).  

This season, seven people have requested (and received) authorization from my office to hunt Town 

land. 

On November 2, my office was notified of a confrontation between an authorized hunter on the L.L. 

Bean parcel (which is far and away the most commonly requested land for permissions) and the 

property caretaker for the Ammo Park. Since that time, I have corresponded in substance with all 

involved parties, and with Chairman Marble have placed this item before the Services Committee as a 

venue for discussion of the current policy, including concerns that have been raised by MGD and the 

Calvary Apostolic Church. I have also conferred with Chief Rogers, who will be in attendance Monday. 

There are a few areas I put forward for consideration relative to the L.L. Bean parcel: 

1. My office can do a better job communicating to authorized hunters regarding where they should 

best park in order to access the land. This will ensure that hunters don’t park at Ammo Park or 

on the private road accessing the Church. We’re working to GPS specific locations so these can 

be added to mapping and communicated to authorized hunters. 

2. It has been suggested that the Town post signs at the “trailheads” on the L.L. Bean property to 

notify the public that hunting is authorized on this land.  

3. It has been suggested that the Town designate certain portions of the L.L. Bean property as “no 

hunting” – specifically, in proximity to the Church and access road. This makes good sense, and 

one of the authorized hunters has volunteered to assist in marking any such restricted location 

in the field. 

At Monday’s meeting, Chief Rogers, Chairman Marble and I all expect we’ll find additional aspects of the 

policy that warrant discussion and potential refinement. An effort has been made to provide notice of 

the meeting to interested parties. 

 

99

townmanager
Typewritten Text
4-b



  
 
 

Hunting on Town Owned Land 
Information Packet 

 
From time to time, the Town receives requests for permission to hunt on Town-owned 
land. 
 
There are seven Town-owned parcels in Hampden that will be considered for hunting 
permissions. The enclosed Map Book illustrates the parcels, including a summary map 
and a separate for each parcel. 
 
In order to receive permission to hunt on Town-owned land, the following is required: 
 

1. Complete a Landowner Permission Form (similar to what the Maine Dept. of 
Inland Fisheries & Wildlife recommends to hunt on private land); 

2. Sign a Release of Claims, Indemnity and Hold Harmless Agreement; 
3. Pay a $15.00 fee in accordance with the Hampden Fees Ordinance.  

 
The request may be for one or more numbered parcels in the Map Book. 
 
The request may be for a specific date range, or for the entire hunting season up to the 
end of the calendar year. A new request form must be returned each calendar year for 
which permission is requested. 
 
Upon receipt, the Town Manager will review the request and return a signed, approved 
copy, typically within one or two business days. A complete color copy of the 8-page 
Map Book will also be provided. 
 
Once approved, the Landowner Permission Form is placed on file with the Hampden 
Police Department. This ensures that the Police Department knows that vehicles parked 
on site and that associated hunting activities are authorized. 
 
 
Last updated: August 15, 2017 

Town of Hampden 
106 Western Avenue 
Hampden, Maine 04444 
 

 

Phone: (207) 862-3034 
Fax:   (207) 862-5067 
Email: 
townmanager@hampdenmaine.gov 

 

100



 

Hunting on Town Owned Land 
Information Packet 

 
The Town of Hampden requires that all hunters seek permission prior to hunting on 
Town-owned land. 
 
The form below is modeled on the courtesy cards prepared by the Maine Department of 
Inland Fisheries and Wildlife, Landowner Relations Program. 
 
Land User’s Section 
 
I would like permission to use Town-owned land to: 
 
ATV ____  Fish ____  Hunt ____  Snowmobile ____  Trap ____   
 
Location of property (refer to Map Book): _____________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Land User’s Address: ____________________________________ 
 
City/Town: _______________________________ Phone: ____________________ 
 
Vehicle License # _________________________ 
 
 
From:  _________________________ to _________________________   
 Start Date     End Date (not later than Dec. 31) 
 
 
 I agree to conduct myself as a true sportsman and to remember that access to 
property is a privilege to be earned and not a right. 
 
 
Signed: ____________________________________ Date: ________________ 
  Land User 
 
 
Landowner’s Name: Town of Hampden 
Address:  106 Western Avenue, Hampden, ME 04444 
Phone:  207-862-3034 
 
 
Permission granted to:  ____________________________________ 
    Land User 
 
Signed: ____________________________________ Date: ________________ 
  Town Manager 

101



  
 

Release of Claims, Indemnity and Hold Harmless Agreement 
 

***Please read this section thoroughly before completing and signing*** 
 
I, ____________________________________, in consideration of the opportunity to hunt on 
land owned by the Town of Hampden (“Town”), do hereby forever release the Town, and all its 
officials, employees or agents (the “Releasees”) from any and all claims, injuries, rights and 
causes of action that may arise, directly or indirectly, from my hunting activities, and all activities 
related thereto, on Town land. I hereby further covenant for myself, my personal representative, 
heirs and assigns, not to sue the Releasees, on account of any such claim, action, demand or 
liability. I further acknowledge that my acts as a hunter are voluntary and may expose me or my 
property to injury, damage or risks. I therefore am deciding to hunt assuming all risk of injury (or 
death) to my person or damage to my property arising from said hunting activities and assume 
and agree to pay all damages and costs that occur as a result of my hunting acts. I am fully 
aware that by signing this document I am releasing the Releasees from any and all liability.  
 
I further agree to indemnify, reimburse, defend and hold harmless the Releasees against any 
and all legal claims and proceedings of any description that may be asserted, directly or 
indirectly, including damages, costs and attorneys’ fees, arising from personal injuries (or death) 
to myself or others, and/or property damage resulting from said hunting on Town land.  
 
I am fully aware that by signing this document I am releasing the Releasees from any and all 
liability that may arise as a result of intentional or negligent acts of these parties. Additionally, it 
is my intent to release the Releasees from all liability and to defend and indemnify the 
Releasees for liability relating to any accident, property damage, injuries and/or death that may 
occur as a result of said hunting on Town land.  
 
This document shall be governed by and construed under the Laws of the State of Maine. 
 
 
____________________________________________________________________________  
Name (Print)    Signature     Date 
 
 
For persons under the age of 18, signature of Parent or Guardian: 
 
 
____________________________________________________________________________  
Name (Print)    Signature     Date 

Town of Hampden 
106 Western Avenue 
Hampden, Maine 04444 
 

 

Phone: (207) 862-3034 
Fax:   (207) 862-5067 
Email: 

townmanager@hampdenmaine.gov 

102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110




